# DEVELOPMENT OF AN SPR-BASED BIOSENSOR APPLICABLE TO THE RAPID AND EARLY DETECTION OF DISEASE BIOMARKERS

by

Peerawich Sukcharoenchaikul

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Engineering in Nanotechnology

Examination Committee:	Dr. Raffaele Ricco (Chairperson)
	Prof. Dieter Wilhelm Trau
	Dr. Tanujjal Bora

Nationality: Thai

Previous Degree:	Bachelor of Engineering in
	Biomedical Engineering
	King Mongkut's University of Technology
	North Bangkok
	Bangkok, Thailand
Scholarship Donor:	Royal Thai Government Fellowship

Asian Institute of Technology School of Engineering and Technology Thailand July 2022

## **AUTHOR'S DECLARATION**

I, Peerawich Sukcharoenchaikul, declare that the research work carried out for this thesis was in accordance with the regulations of the Asian Institute of Technology. The work presented in it are my own and has been generated by me as the result of my own original research, and if external sources were used, such sources have been cited. It is original and has not been submitted to any other institution to obtain another degree or qualification. This is a true copy of the thesis, including final revisions.

Date: 25/07/2022

Name (in printed letters): Peerawich Sukcharoenchaikul



## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I cannot express enough thanks and appreciation to my committees for their continued support, encouragement, suggestions, and recommendations; Dr. Raffaele Ricco, my committee chairperson, Dr. Tanujjal Bora, and Professor Dieter Trau. I offer my sincere gratitude for the learning opportunities provided by my committee.

My completion of this project could not be complete without the support of my beloved family and friends for their endless support, understanding, and encouragement. I would especially like to thank Nutthanicha for all of the ways in which she has guided me, supported me, and helped in the development of a lot of things. Also, I would like to show my deepest gratitude to everyone who I may or may not have mentioned for the caring, loving, and support that you may have brought to me.

Finally, I would like to thank myself for being strong and brave by putting myself through every hardship that I have been through, thanks for the empowerment, trust, and encouragement I have for myself.

## ABSTRACT

From centuries, infectious diseases have been one of the main factors influencing human's mortality rate, thus disease's detection is crucial to keep it low. It has been proved that early detection of diseases can potentially ease the severity and increases precise diagnosis for proper treatment. This research will be focused on stimulating biosensor usage by applying an optical biosensor in detecting glycated albumin which is a mockup of a biomarker. By using an optical biosensor applied with surface plasmon resonance (SPR) in detecting glycated albumin in order to analyze SPR peak shift of gold particles that deposit on ZnO nanorods which have aptamers immobilization on the gold surface. In this research, the biosensor has been used to evaluate glycated albumin at several concentrations and it has been found that the glycated albumin could be rapidly analyzed that the biosensor can detect. In future implications, this research could be potentially further developed to be used with a biomarker that is a real infectious disease to increase the disease's detection preciseness and speediness.

Keyword: biosensor, surface plasmon resonance, SPR, biomarker, glycated albumin

## CONTENTS

	Page
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iii
ABSTRACT	iv
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	ix
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background of the Study	1
1.2 Statement of the Problem	3
1.3 Objectives of the Research	5
1.4 Scope of the Study	5
1.5 Limitation of the Study	5
CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW 6	
2.1 Biosensor State of Arts	6
2.1.1 Biosensors Working Principle	6
2.1.2 Classification of Biosensor Base on Transducers	6
2.1.3 Biosensors Characteristics	7
2.1.4 Biosensor Components	8
2.1.5 Biosensors for Infectious Disease	9
2.2 Current Assays to Detect Viral Antigens	10
2.3 Surface Functionalization of Biorecognition on SPR-based Sensors	16
2.3.1 Immobilization of the Biorecognition on the Surface	16
2.3.2 Surfaces Capable of Immobilizing Biorecognition	17
2.3.3 Functionalization of Aptamer on the Gold Surface	18
CHAPTER 3 METHODOLOGY	19
3.1 Research Framework	19
3.2 Experimental Section	20
3.2.1 Synthesis of ZnO Nanorods on the Glass Surface	20
3.2.2 Synthesis of Gold Nanoparticles on ZnO by	
Utilizing Photoreduction Method	21

		Page
	3.2.3 Surface Functionalization of Aptamer on the	
	Glass Substrate	22
3.3	Glycation of Human Serum Albumin with Fructose.	24
3.4	Characterization Methods of the LSPR Biosensor	25
3.5	Detection of Glycated Albumin Testing the Absorbance	25
3.6	Sensitivity of the Detection Glycated Albumin	26
CHAPTER 4 F	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	27
4.1	Synthesis of ZnO Nanorods	27
	4.1.1 Characterization by UV Visible Spectroscopy	27
	4.1.2 Evaluate the Morphology of the Grown ZnO Nanorods	
	Structure's Surface	28
4.2	Depositions of Gold Nanoparticles	29
	4.2.1 Ultraviolet-visible Spectroscopy (UV-Vis)	29
	4.2.2 Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)	30
	4.2.3 Water Contact Angle	30
4.3	Functionalization of the Gold ZnO Nanorods with the	
	Aptamer Solution	31
	4.3.1 Aptamer Concentration	32
	4.3.2 Incubation time of the Au/ZnO Nanorods with the	
	Aptamer Solution.	33
	4.3.3 Preparation of Glycated Albumin	35
	4.3.4 Efficiency of the Aptamer Binding Towards	
	Glycated Albumin	37
4.4	Sensitivity and Selectivity Test of the Aptamer with	
	Glycated Albumin.	38
	4.4.1 Sensitivity Test	38
	4.4.2 Selectivity Testing	39
CHAPTER 5 C	CONCLUSION	41
5.1	Conclusion	41
5.2	Recommendation and Future Implications	42
REFERENCE	8	43

## **LIST OF FIGURES**

Figures	Page
Figure 1.1 SPR Principle	3
Figure 2.1 Biosensor Mechanism	9
Figure 2.2 Different Forms of ELISA	15
Figure 2.3 Immunofluorescence (IF) Assays	16
Figure 3.1 Synthesis of ZnO Nanorods	20
Figure 3.2 Fabrication of Biosensor	21
Figure 3.3 Results of Gold Deposition	22
Figure 3.4 Deprotecting the Thiuol Group with TCEP	23
Figure 3.5 Incubation Glycated Albumin	24
Figure 4.1 UV Visible Spectroscopy of ZnO	27
Figure 4.2 Morphologies of ZnO Nanorods	28
Figure 4.3 Various Cycles of ZnO Nanorods	29
Figure 4.4 Morphologies of Gold on ZnO Nanorods	30
Figure 4.5 Surface's Water Contact Angle of Au-ZnO Nanords	31
Figure 4.6 Functionalization of Aptamer	32
Figure 4.7 Concentration of Aptamer	33
Figure 4.8 Incubation Time of Aptamer	34

## Page

Figure 4.9 Maillard Reaction	35
Figure 4.10 Results of Glycated Albumin	36
Figure 4.11 Peak Shift of UV Visible Spectroscopy	37
Figure 4.12 Sensitivity of the Aptamer	39
Figure 4.13 Selectivity of the Aptamer	40

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AIDS	= Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome
COVID-19	= Coronavirus Disease
DFA	= Direct Immunofluorescence Assay
DNA	= Deoxyribonucleic Acid
EIA	= Enzyme Immunoassay
ELISA	= Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay
H1N1	= Influenza A Virus Subtype H1N1
HIV	= Human Immunodeficiency Viruses
IEP	= Isoelectric Point
IF	= Immunofluorescence
IFA	= Immunofluorescence Assays
LAMP	= Loop-Mediated Isothermal Amplification
LOD	= Limit Of Detection
LSPR	= Localized Surface Plasmon Resonance
MERS	= Middle East Respiratory Syndrome
NPs	= Nanoparticle
PCR	= Polymerase Chain Reaction
POC	= Point Of Care
RNA	= Ribonucleic Acid
RT-LAMP	= Reverse Transcription Loop-Mediated Isothermal Amplification
RT-PCR	= Reverse Transcription Polymerase Chain Reaction
SAMs	= Self-Assembled Monolayers
SELEX	= Systematic Evolution Of Ligands By Exponential Enrichment
SEM	= Scanning Electron Microscopy
SP	= Surface Plasmon
SPR	= Surface Plasmon Resonance
UV	= Ultraviolet

# CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Background of the Study

Viral diseases are concerning for human health as many pathogenic agents are continuously changing their genetic composition to evade the host immune system (Liu et al., 2015; Abid et al., 2021).

In recent times, disease outbreaks and epidemics have occurred across the world as a result of more than 20 infectious agents (A. A. Balkhair, 2020). H1N1 and MERS are some examples of outbreaks of infectious pathogens. COVID-19 is one of the most recent outbreaks that are caused by a mutation of a single-stranded RNA coronavirus (Asif et al., 2020). Changing landscapes of local environments have made RNA viruses to rapidly adapt their genetic material to these diversifying conditions because of higher replication rate errors (Nichol et al., 2000).

As a result, researchers have been working intensively to uncover the probable origins of the virus and provide several therapeutic medications, vaccinations, and diagnoses about infectious illnesses that have been obtained and continue to be learned to help detect the viral diseases before it gets out of control (Morens & Fauci, 2020). Vaccinations and current technologies have drastically reduced the mortality rate caused by these disease mutations so far (Fung, 2012).

Currently, the detection of several biomarkers can be divided into two categories which are direct detection methods and indirect detection methods (Carter et al., 2020). Direct detection methods, also known as molecular diagnostic techniques, are based on the specific nucleic acid sequence detection that can provide a more rapid, sensitive, and specific detection than traditional diagnostic (Reta et al., 2020). The nucleic acid amplification assay of polymerase chain reaction (PCR) is one example of a direct detection method. Other direct detection techniques are Reverse Transcription-PCR (RT-PCR) and Loop-Mediated Isothermal Amplification (LAMP) (Cui & Zhou, 2020). On the other hand, indirect detection methods, divided into serological and immunological assays, related to the detection in blood serum or in plasma (Carter et al., 2020), also use disease-specific antibodies (Ji et al., 2020). Examples of serological and immunological assays are Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA), Lateral Flow Immunoassay, and Immunofluorescence (IF) assay (Giri et al., 2021).

Biosensors can be made from a variety of transducers. The optical transducer is one of the most significant due to its high sensitivity, as a result of developments that have improved the signal-to-noise ratio and lowered the detection limit (Bhalla et al., 2016; Damborský et al., 2016). One of the most remarkable optical transducers is the SPR biosensor. Surface Plasmon Resonance (SPR) is used to detect the binding between an interesting molecule (analyte) and biorecognition (ligand) which does not require any additional labels (Piliarik & Homola, 2009). This phenomenon appears when the beam of light hits the surface of the material which mostly is gold (Mullett et al., 2000). The electron is transferred due to the excitation of the electron in the material interacting with the light and becoming a plasmon (Nguyen et al., 2015). Glass prism is used to make reflected light and the excitation between the electron and the light makes the angle of the define SPR (resonance) occurred which relies on the refractive index of the material (Gosu & Zaheer, 2021). When the biomolecule binds with the biorecognition, the reflective index will be changed and can be detected by measuring the shift of resonance angle which can be seen in Figure 1.1 (Chauhan & Kumar Singh, 2021). Additionally, an analyte used with the biosensor, glycated albumin is a biomarker that could be related to several pathogens (Arasteh et al., 2014). It could be used instead of actual infectious pathogen samples because their mass is relatively comparable and can be used to demonstrate the detection of real-world diseases such as diabetes (Freitas et al., 2017).

## Figure 1.1

#### SPR Principle



*Note.* The concept of the surface plasmon resonance method measures the angle shift of the surface plasmon caused by the binding of the receptor and substrate (Pires et al., 2014).

### 1.2 Statement of the Problem

New diseases are on the rise throughout the world, and this poses a difficulty in identifying and diagnosing them, due to a lack of identification of the biomarkers that can be accurately detected in patients (Warren et al., 2014). There is thus the need for diagnostic technologies that can not only effectively identify diseases but also provide accurate treatment recommendations to avoid their transmission (Mavrikou et al., 2020).

The new methods which able to detect biomarkers can be used in point of care (POC) devices which are the consequence of advanced biosensors (Harpaz et al., 2019). This development leads to faster and easier detection (Syedmoradi et al., 2021). Several POC biosensors can be used to detect biomarkers such as electrochemical, thermometric, piezoelectric, and optic (Anik, 2017). For the precise detection of a biomarker utilizing the optical biosensor, an SPR POC device, have the ability to provide results in quick

detection (Harpaz et al., 2019). Optical SPR biosensors are significant devices for molecular interactions (Guo, 2012). For compounds with molecular weights greater than 1000 Da, the SPR biosensor has a detection limit of 10 pg/mL (Nguyen et al., 2015). Furthermore, adding some label proteins to the analyte of the surface can boost sensitivity; this is known as SPR signal amplification (Chung et al., 2005).

SPR biosensor methodology utilizes a system capable of identifying in real-time biomarkers that lead to infectious illness, such as SARS-CoV-2, and other antigens (Djaileb et al., 2020). SPR biosensing can improve the efficiency of the detection by exploiting the aptamer to bind with the biomarker (Nguyen et al., 2015). Additionally, traditional detection methods are often time-consuming and expensive. For example, it takes up to 4 hours to perform one experiment of RT-PCR. Instead, SPR-based techniques utilizing aptamers can detect several biomarkers more accurately and in a shorter time (Samson et al., 2020).

Currently, advancements in the field of nanotechnology are increasing as well as the application of surface plasmons for specialized applications which emerged as a potential alternative for traditional optical sensors (Petryayeva & Krull, 2011). The growth of this nanotechnology application on optical sensors has also resulted in the development of localized surface plasmon resonance (LSPR) (Kosuda et al., 2019). The difference between SPR and LSPR is the SPR interacts in a thin metallic layer where electromagnetic wave spreads at the surface which required a complex instrument to perform and LSPR oscillates when incident light interacts in metal nanoparticles like gold nanoparticles due to the confinement of the electromagnetic field which is easy to perform by measure color change and absorption peak shift (Damborský et al., 2016). LSPR commonly occurs usually with metallic which are smaller than the wavelength of the incident light (Petryayeva & Krull, 2011). Conduction electrons oscillate (surface plasmons) is the result of the fluctuating electric field that is produced when incident light interacts with gold or silver nanoparticles (Paul & Giri, 2018). Since this phenomenon is dependent on variations in resonant peak shift output, these methods are customizable and can be employed in a biosensor by modifying a few of the materials, thicknesses, and sizes of the nanostructures that are suitable for LSPR (Chauhan & Kumar Singh, 2021).

### **1.3 Objectives of the Research**

The principal aim of the research will be to design an SPR biosensor that detects biomarkers related to dangerous diseases utilizing an aptamers recognition system. In this project, a biosensor functionalized on a glass substrate will be used to identify glycated albumin as a model analyte. The objectives are as follows:

- 1. Synthesis of a biosensor with SPR capabilities for the detection of a model protein via aptamer binding. Here glycated albumin will be used.
- 2. Surface functionalization of substrates like glass and assessment of the capability for glycated albumin detection.
- Data collection and analysis on its effectiveness in detecting different quantities of glycated albumin.

## 1.4 Scope of the Study

The focus of this study will be on SPR-based biosensors for some biomarkers such as glycated albumin detection (Sasar et al., 2020). The chosen aptamer will be utilized to interact with varying concentrations of glycated albumin, after its immobilization aptamer on a ZnO nanorods substrate. The results of the binding between the aptamer and the biomarker, as well as the signal output, will be examined utilizing a range of choices available to assess the biosensor effectiveness.

## 1.5 Limitation of the Study

- 1. This study detects a specific model protein, namely glycated albumin, as a biomarker. Real-world biomarkers are not included.
- 2. The sensor transducer will only be Surface Plasmon Resonance (SPR) based. Other biosensors are not included to be investigated.
- The sensor's base is made from ZnO nanorods on a glass substrate. Other morphologies of ZnO are not taken into account.

# CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Biosensor State of Arts

## 2.1.1 Biosensors Working Principle

A biosensor is a type of sensor that can analyze biological substrates such as microorganisms or chemical interactions (Guo, 2012). The simple principle of the biosensor is to convert the signal that it receives from the bioreceptor which is immobilized on the surface of the transducer material to a detectable signal, the signal's output will then be analyzed and changed to a readable signal (Bhalla et al., 2016).

Biosensors are divided into two parts: biosensors based on biological signals and biosensors based on transducers (Perumal & Hashim, 2014). Biosensors based on a biological signal's main feature is the bioreceptor, often known as the biological recognition element and it must be selective and sensitive to the specific target analyte (Sawant, 2017). On the other hand, biosensors based on transducers are categorized on the transduction method that has been used to convert the change of physical and chemical into the electrical signal (Lowe, 2008).

In biosensors based on a biological signal, the biological recognition element is classified into five types of sensors: enzyme-based sensors, immunosensors, DNA/nucleic acid sensors, cell-based sensors, and biomimetic sensors (Perumal & Hashim, 2014).

The biosensor based on transducers is classified based on the mechanism of transmission they use (Naresh & Lee, 2021). The transducer is a significant component to transfer the energy to signal detection such as the electrochemical sensor, optical biosensors, and piezoelectric sensor (Liu et al., 2018).

#### 2.1.2 Classification of Biosensor Base on Transducers

Classification of transducers are generically classified as electrochemical, optical, and piezoelectric sensors based on the operating principles (Naresh & Lee, 2021).

For the example of a biosensor based on transducers, the electrochemical sensor is used electrodes to be a transducer and analyze values that receive from different measurements including amperometric and potentiometric biosensors (Perumal & Hashim, 2014). Amperometric biosensors monitor the product current during the oxidation or reduction of the process while potentiometric biosensors measure the potential difference between the biosensor electrode and the reference electrode (Sawant, 2017).

Optical biosensors work by combining optical characteristics with a biorecognition component to create a label or label-free detection (Guo, 2012). Several analytes can be used to measure by optical spectroscopy such as absorption, Raman, surface plasmon resonance (SPR), localized surface plasmon resonance (LSPR), and fluorescence (Damborský et al., 2016). Surface plasmon resonance (SPR) is known to be the most sophisticated technology for understanding biomolecular interactions (Piliarik & Homola, 2009). SPR has since improved surface chemistry, helping in the advancement of chemistry, physics, and biology (Singh, 2016). The SPR detection limit is as low as a single molecule whose detection range is between µM and nM, making it very sensitive (Guo, 2012).

Nevertheless, The SPR technique does have certain disadvantages. The main disadvantage is the system's sensitivity, with a limit of detection defined at 1-10nM for a 20 kDa protein especially when the binding has a low affinity or the surface has a limited binding capacity which makes it difficult for detection (Mustafa et al., 2010).

In a piezoelectric sensor, the mechanical or electrical changes that result from the piezoelectric effect from piezoelectric crystals often convert to electrical signals (Liu et al., 2018). This signal was detected by the sensors and the characteristics of the crystals elastic generally define the signal output (Srivastava et al., 2020).

## 2.1.3 Biosensors Characteristics

One of the most essential characteristics of biosensors is selectivity, as it is the ability of the receptor that can detect specific analyses (Akgönüllü et al., 2020).

In addition, sensitivity is the lowest level of analysis that biosensors can detect, and it is related to the limit of detection (LOD) (Abid et al., 2021). The biosensor should be able to recognize substrate concentrations as low as possible in order to verify the existence of substrate residues inside the samples. (Liu et al., 2018).

Moreover, reproducibility is also crucial within the biosensor, as it is the ability to reproduce the experiment with precision and accurate responses for the reliability of information (Bhalla et al., 2016).

Lastly, the significant characteristic of biosensors is linearity. Linearity is the ability that shows the characteristic indicating the precision of the measured response and it is affected by its resolution (Naresh & Lee, 2021).

#### 2.1.4 Biosensor Components

Analytes, receptors, transducers, electronics, and displays are the five components of a biosensor (see Figure 2.1) and they can be divided depending on the physical signal that sensors are produced such as electrochemical sensors, optical sensors, and thermal sensors (Kheyraddini Mousavi et al., 2012; Bhalla et al., 2016). Biosensors are a combination of biological and electronic components that lead to the efficiency of detection (Sawant, 2017).

For the components of the biosensor, the bioreceptor is a biochemical receptor with a recognition component that functions as an interactor to the target analyte such as aptamers, enzymes, antibodies, and deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) (Naresh & Lee, 2021). Therefore, the selectivity and sensitivity of the system rely mainly on the biorecognition-specific target due to its ability to bind the target (Bhalla et al., 2016). However, some external factors can affect the biorecognition component including variables of temperature, pH, and ionic strength. (Sawant, 2017).

The transducer is a converter that changes in terms of chemical energy to another energy for analysis such as electrical signals (Perumal & Hashim, 2014; Bhalla et al., 2016). When a bioreceptor binds to the analyte, the chemical or physical reaction occurs, and the transducer detects the appearing reaction and changes to some biochemical signal

or quantifiable electronic signal (Fatoyinbo & Hughes, 2012). The signal is then sent to the processing section which amplifies the signal before sending (Naresh & Lee, 2021).

When the signal is generated by the transducer, a signal processor (electronic parts) receives the signal and converts the transducer's signal into a readable signal for analysis (Kheyraddini Mousavi et al., 2012). The display section displays the signal's interpretation using a liquid crystal display and a computer to present the comprehended information (Bhalla et al., 2016).

## Figure 2.1

#### Biosensor's Mechanism



*Note.* The biosensor's mechanism, which includes analyte, biorecognition, transducer, and signal processing, is demonstrated in this figure (Kivirand et al., 2013).

## 2.1.5 Biosensors for Infectious Disease

Biomarkers, biomolecules, and biomaterials have been used to determine the presence or absence of infectious disease for a long time which can be applied to the use of biosensors (Firdous et al., 2018). Electrochemical biosensors could be a commonly used approach to detect infectious diseases due to their easy procedure, good selectivity, and capability to perform a portable device (Sheikhzadeh et al., 2016). Furthermore, this technique enables the mass production of portable and low-cost analytical equipment that can operate with very small sample quantities (Eissa et al., 2018). Furthermore, optical biosensors also performed an advanced and important method for analyzing molecular interactions which can lead to infectious disease (Mullett et al., 2000). They provide fast detection with excellent sensitivity and selectivity, as well as simple and uncomplicated detection (Guo, 2012). Surface Plasmon Resonance (SPR) biosensors are some of the optical biosensors and are alternative to antibody-based methods which have been applied to detect and quantify analytes from biomolecules such as proteins, nucleic acids, and small molecules, including drugs and their metabolites (Mehrotra, 2016). SPR biosensor technology has been used successfully for the detection of infectious disease markers such as HIV-1 p24 protein, Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) antibodies IgG/IgM antibody detection in blood samples, HBsAg hepatitis B virus antigen detection in serum samples (Ozer & Henry, 2021).

These aforementioned biosensors can detect symptoms on a molecular level and can detect symptoms as soon as they appear, which means the diagnosis is easier and faster than ever before with the use of biosensors (Cui & Zhou, 2020). These biosensors have been providing more accurate medical diagnoses of infectious diseases, increasing treatment possibilities (Abid et al., 2021). In addition, the invention of biosensors has accelerated the process for the medical diagnosis of infectious diseases (Sin et al., 2014). These devices are capable of detecting pathogens in blood, saliva, urine, and other bodily fluids (Sin et al., 2014). The interaction among antigen-antibodies has been employed in the clinical diagnosis of infectious diseases and other conditions (Chung et al., 2005). If an illness is to be properly treated, it must be detected as early as possible (Yakoh et al., 2021).

#### 2.2 Current Assays to Detect Viral Antigens (e.g.: SARS-CoV-2 RBD)

An infectious disease is a disease that is caused by an infectious agent, which is transmitted into the body by an infected host (Cinti et al., 2008). Some of the most common infectious diseases are influenza (flu), HIV/AIDS, hepatitis A and B, malaria, syphilis, and Zika virus infection (Holmes et al., 2017). These types of diseases are caused by microorganisms such as bacteria, viruses, fungi, or parasites (Cole & Kramer, 2016). Infectious diseases can spread through the air, food, water, or contact with an infected person or animal (Cinti et al., 2008). The consequences of infectious diseases

are serious because they can lead to death and some diseases also lead to permanent damage to the body, and they can infect individuals, while others cause discomforts, such as cold or flu (Souf, 2016). As a result, the detection of these diseases or virology diagnostics is critical for treating and monitoring the symptoms of these illnesses (Trent, 2005).

Diagnostic virology is the section of clinical medicine that assesses individuals to diagnose, treat, and prevent illness as a result of the convergence of several independent disease developments (Storch, 2000). Technical advances, especially in the field of nucleic acid chemistry have erupted in the creation of crucial new instruments for viral diagnostics (Storch, 2000).

Previously, laboratory diagnosis of viruses has involved isolating infections in tissue culture or viral detection methods based on cell culture as well as visual inspection of pathogens in the sample using electron microscopy and other techniques (Cella et al., 2013). There are certain notable advantages of viral culture, including the ability to identify numerous viruses, even if not all of them were suspected at the time the culture was conducted (Storch, 2000). However, there are certain drawbacks, such as being time-consuming, costly, and difficult to replicate (Abid et al., 2021).

Molecular techniques have altered diagnostic infectious diseases since they determine the presence and disappearance of viral nucleic acids in a patient's sample (Acharya et al., 2004). Thus, numerous conventional techniques have been replaced by approaches based on nucleic acids (Atmar, 2014). Rapid and precise disease identification enhances the chances of living, lowers the cost of ineffective therapies, and prevents disease transmission (Acharya et al., 2004).

For the molecular techniques (direct diagnostic procedures), molecular methods which include the multiplication of viral genomic information are very sensitive and selective, enable fast diagnosis, and provide the simultaneous detection of several viruses (Cella et al., 2013). Molecular detection methods examine the nucleic acids in the sample to determine the virus and this technique has been used to diagnose and track the number of different viral illnesses (Giri et al., 2021).

Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) is a well-known nucleic acid amplification technique and is typically used to detect or identify viruses (Emery et al., 2004). PCR can also be used to detect viruses in a wide range of specimen types (Yakoh et al., 2021). PCR utilizes a thermostable of DNA polymerase and two oligonucleotide primers to extract and purify DNA molecules, followed by exponential amplification of the target sequence (Jackson, 1990). Numerous procedures can also be used to evaluate the amplified result after the PCR process (Atmar, 2014). The notable technique often used are reverse transcription-PCR and real-time PCR (Reta et al., 2020). However, traditional PCR is still in use in several clinical laboratories across the world, although it is being phased out in favor of more sophisticated PCR versions (Jackson, 1990).

Real-time PCR and reverse transcription-PCR are the most frequently utilized types of conventional amplification (Souf, 2016). Both are currently considered standards for determining infection rates (Atmar, 2014). The concept of RT-PCR is to use reverse transcriptase to modify the virus's RNA and convert it to complementary DNA (cDNA) (Bustin et al., 2005; Carter et al., 2020).

Furthermore, the cDNA is utilized as a template for amplification using PCR to measure gene expression (Atmar, 2014). Depending on the origin substance, the RT-PCR test is feasible to be done in one or two stages, with one step getting quicker results than two steps (Giri et al., 2021). Before the DNA polymerase process, the RNA template must be reverse transcribed in step two because RNA must be transcribed to DNA to be amplified while one step uses only a single tube to analyze (Yakoh et al., 2021).

One-step real-time RT-PCR performs the whole RT-PCR reaction in a single tube containing sufficient primers (Carter et al., 2020). The two-step technique involves RNA in one tube followed by DNA polymerization through another (Giri et al., 2021). RT-PCR has been used to diagnose human infection by RNA viruses since the beginning (Reta et al., 2020).

However, due to current methods not providing enough rapid and cost-effective testing, reverse transcription loop-mediated isothermal amplification (RT-LAMP) was

developed for the alternative method (Carter et al., 2020). The viral RNA and DNA are being tested using this approach (Reta et al., 2020).

A standard RT-qPCR procedure requires around 90-120 minutes to complete, while LAMP takes about half an hour to complete (Kubina & Dziedzic, 2020). Four to six unique primers specific to the target gene/region were employed to enhance sensitivity, and this approach was combined with the reverse transcription procedure to detect viral RNA or bacteria (Carter et al., 2020).

RT-LAMP is the technique of amplifying the RNA sequence to improve specificity, sensitivity, and detection time (Courrol et al., 2007). The thermal cycle is not used in this approach (Samson et al., 2020). Since it is an isothermal condition, this technique will produce results faster than RT-PCR (Fu et al., 2011). The presence of certain RNA samples could be detected using RT-LAMP (Carter et al., 2020). To detect the viral RNA, the exact sequencing of the virus is required to determine the result (Kubina & Dziedzic, 2020). Therefore, the detection can be completed by comparing the samples' sequences to a known sequence to identify the individual virus (Fu et al., 2011).

The detection of viral nucleic acids is considered to be the most reliable method for identifying viral infection (Kubina & Dziedzic, 2020). On the other hand, it has several limitations, including the patient's previous infection and immunity, and it takes longer and requires more effort in analyzing the virus (Fu et al., 2011). As a result, serological testing can overcome the limitations of molecular assays (Carter et al., 2020). This approach identifies the patient's antigen and antibody to recognize the virus by scanning for antibodies (IgG and IgM) in the blood, saliva, and sputum (Giri et al., 2021).

Immunological techniques (indirect diagnostic procedures) have been used for detection for centuries (Atmar, 2014). For the identification of human viral infections, several immunological diagnostic options are proposed (Reta et al., 2020). The body's immune system produces antibodies to interact with viral infections, and this interaction was used to develop immunological diagnostic methods (Storch, 2000). There are many approaches to identifying viral infection in patient specimens, including numerous immunological diagnostic methods, such as ELISA and Immunofluorescence (IF) assays (Reta et al., 2020).

Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA) or Enzyme Immunoassay (EIA) is the technique that detects the presence of viral antigen by utilizing antibodies that are specific to the antigen (Kubina & Dziedzic, 2020). ELISA tests are used for various purposes such as detecting drugs or determining blood type and it is a powerful tool for the detection of antibodies in both clinical and research settings (Aydin, 2015).

The basic principle of an ELISA is straightforward (Reta et al., 2020). The detection could be performed by knowing the number of antibodies that bind to the antigen, it will form a complex that can be detected by the addition of an enzyme-labeled antibody or another reporter molecule to form an enzymatic reaction product (Shah & Maghsoudlou, 2016). However, this method can only detect the presence and disappearance of viral antigen, but it cannot determine the sample's depth to exact concentration (De La Rica & Stevens, 2012).

There are four major types of ELISA (see Figure 2.2): direct ELISA, indirect ELISA, antigen-specific antibodies sandwich ELISA, and competitive ELISA (Shah & Maghsoudlou, 2016). Direct ELISA is an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay that uses antigen-specific antibodies to detect antibody molecules (Lalani et al., 2018). It does not use any other reagents or chemicals to amplify the signal (Reta et al., 2020).

On the other hand, indirect ELISA is a technique that determines the presence of antibodies in an unknown sample by using the known concentrations of antigens in a standard sample (Shah & Maghsoudlou, 2016).

Sandwich ELISA has become the most popular type of ELISA for biomedical research, and it contrasts with direct and indirect ELISA because it can use two different antibodies (Louten, 2016). One of which binds to an antigen on the test sample which binds to and selectively labels and the other one binds to antibodies that are placed onto a solid matrix (Kubina & Dziedzic, 2020).

In competitive ELISA, the antigen is immobilized on a well plate, and an unlabeled primary antibody is added to detect the antigen (Shah & Maghsoudlou, 2016). This assay provides very sensitive detection of antibodies by adding an excess amount of unlabeled antibodies to compete with an analyte for binding sites and it can detect very low levels of antibodies in a sample (Lalani et al., 2018).

## Figure 2.2





*Note.* The different forms of ELISA are depicted in this figure, which is determined by the antibodies and techniques employed (BOSTER, n.d.).

Immunofluorescence (IF) assays are one of the most used tests in medical diagnosis (Reta et al., 2020). The immunofluorescence assay is a technique that works by detecting the presence of a particular antigen and antibodies (Atmar, 2014). This approach can be divided into two types which are direct (DFA) and indirect immunofluorescence assays (IFA) (see Figure 2.3) (Reta et al., 2020).

The direct immunofluorescence assay (DFA) technique involves the use of antibodies that bind to specific antigens and then get labeled with a fluorescent dye, or as known as a fluorophore-conjugated antibody (Louten, 2016). The fluorescently labeled antibodies are then applied to the sample, where they bind to any antigens present and emit light for detection (Louten, 2016).

Indirect immunofluorescence assays (IFA), instead of fluorescence, the enzyme binds to the antibody, which is an unlabeled specific antibody and employs two antibodies instead of one (Reta et al., 2020). The use of an unlabeled antibody that can bind to a specific viral antigen becomes the first method (Kubina & Dziedzic, 2020). Then, if a response occurs from the first antibody binding with an attached fluorescent-tagged antibody, it can be detected (Atmar, 2014).

## Figure 2.3

Immunofluorescence (IF) Assays



*Note.* The figure demonstrates both direct and indirect Immunofluorescence Techniques. These approaches have benefits and drawbacks which are dependent on how individual detection is employed (Abcam, n.d.).

#### 2.3 Surface Functionalization of Biorecognition on SPR-based Sensors

#### 2.3.1 Immobilization of the Biorecognition on the Surface

Due to the sensor needing a high density of biorecognition elements on the surface while preserving biological processes, surface chemistries were used for biorecognition element immobilization on the SPR and there is no conventional procedure for immobilization (Balamurugan et al., 2008). As a result, the immobilization chemistry is chosen depending on the characteristics of a certain biorecognition element (Piliarik et al., 2009).

Several varieties of biorecognition elements and immobilization techniques are sufficient to use with biosensors for customized specific detection (Guo, 2012). Antibodies, peptides, and aptamers are examples of biorecognition elements that can be employed to immobilize the SPR surface (Piliarik et al., 2009).

Maintaining the bonding sensitivity and selectivity of the aptamer in solution is an essential aim for biomolecules immobilization (Firdous et al., 2018). Several methods for immobilizing biomolecules on the SPR sensor surface have already been discovered

such as physical adsorption techniques based on hydrophobic, strong covalent bonding, non-covalent interaction of the tag proteins, and a target molecule (Löfås et al., 1995).

Initially, SPR applications relied on physic adsorption to a protein since it is simple and straightforward, such as Van der Waals interactions (Löfås & Mcwhirter, 2006). However, since complicated techniques or structures of biorecognition are constantly being developed, simple approvals to immobilize bio recognition are insufficient (Balamurugan et al., 2008). Therefore, the spontaneous adsorption of proteins with other molecules, typically utilizing silver and gold, is commonly used, followed by passive attachment to a metal substrate (Löfås & Mcwhirter, 2006). The electrostatic and Van der Waals interactions provides the most convenient and low-cost approach, but it has poor binding stability (Kozitsina et al., 2018). The physic adsorption technique has weaker bonding than the other techniques, but it does not modify the structure of the immobilized natural protein (Jesionowski et al., 2014).

Covalent bonding is one of the most widely used methods and it provides a strong binding between biorecognition and the surface substrate (Martinkova et al., 2017). A covalent bond form can be a stable way to form a protein immobilized on the surface sensor by combining usable functional groups of exposure amino acids, such as amine groups and thiol groups, with appropriate forms of functionalized surfaces, such as carboxylic acid, aldehyde, maleimide, and vinyl sulfone (Tomizaki et al., 2005). This method of immobilizing biorecognition has the advantage of being a strong stable and reliable immobilization method (Homola, 2008).

## 2.3.2 Surfaces Capable of Immobilizing Biorecognition

Glass and polymer substrates are commonly used to avoid signal extinguishment for optical measurements and the clarity of the signal (Piliarik & Homola, 2009). It allows signal transmission and eliminates spectroscopic extinguishment that may occur with a gold surface (Balamurugan et al., 2008). In addition, ZnO has been employed in a variety of applications since they have several advantages such as it can easily be functionalized and modified with different functional groups and also offers the advantage of high specificity and stability (Yaqoob et al., 2020). ZnO is anticipated to be an outstanding electrochemical material with a low isoelectric point (IEP), enabling

it to be much more beneficial in solar cell manufacturing and semiconductor material (Rajendra et al., 2014).

ZnO substrate was used to be the substrate for immobilization of several proteins such as enzymes, antibodies, and aptamers due to it can enhance the performance of the sensor (Ahmad et al., 2014). ZnO can be applied to different substrates, and it can be grown for use to be an electrode which has to prepare some additional methods (Ahmad et al., 2014). Moreover, ZnO has a high capacity for absorption, high specific surface area, and remarkable optical transparency over a wide range of wavelengths, including visible and near-infrared wavelengths making it potential material for immobilization of biomolecules (Ahmad et al., 2014). As a result, in order to produce ZnO, ZnO can be hydrothermally grown on a glass substrate to improve the sensor's efficiency (Li et al., 2019). Moreover, nanorods are regarded as one of the greatest opportunities for future integrated biosensors among oxide semiconductors due to their exceptional electrical properties and biocompatibility (Rajendra et al., 2014).

## 2.3.3 Functionalization of Aptamer on the Gold Surface

For the direct attachment of aptamers on the gold surface, DNA linked by the thiolterminated side has been discovered during DNA hybridization investigations previously (Balamurugan et al., 2008). Methods for binding aptamers on gold surfaces are similar to what is used to link nonbiological monolayers produced by thiol chemisorption with gold substrates (Baldrich et al., 2005).

An aptamer's immobilization on a gold surface can be achieved by employing an alkanethiol self-assembly method attached to an aptamer sequence through chemisorption (Herne & Tarlov, 1997). For aptamers immobilization on a monolayer gold surface, thiol-terminated aptamers typically were used and comprise three components which are a thiol (–SH) or disulfide (–SSR) terminus, a linker, and the aptamers sequence (Thiviyanathan & Gorenstein, 2012). Therefore, the terminal thiol group binds to the aptamers towards the gold surface (Löfås & Mcwhirter, 2006). The variety of terminal functional groups attached to aptamers is determined by the surface functionalization approach, such as linked to amine, thiol, or biotin termini (Odeh et al., 2020).

# CHAPTER 3 METHODOLOGY

## 3.1 Research Framework

The following diagram outlines this research's methodological framework to prepare the SPR biosensor and for achieving the goals and objectives.



## 3.2 Experimental Section

## 3.2.1 Synthesis of ZnO Nanorods on the Glass Surface

*a. Preparation of ZnO seeds.* The glass substrate is cleaned using acetone, ethanol, and DI water for 5 minutes with bath sonication. Next, the ZnO seed layer is prepared by dissolving Zinc acetate  $(Zn(CH_3COO)_2)$  in Ethanol  $(CH_3CH_2OH)$  at a concentration of 1 mM. To form the ZnO seeds, the prepared solution is sprayed on the glass surface, and placed on a hot plate with a temperature of 90 °C, at a distance of around 10 cm, to avoid the formation of droplets when the spray nozzle is too close to the sample (see the Figure 3.1 (a)). After coating, the sample is heated in the oven for 5 hours at 250 °C. After that, the sample is to be cooled spontaneously, enabling the formation of a white ZnO seeds coating.

*b. Fabrication of ZnO nanorods.* An aqueous solution of zinc nitrate  $(Zn(NO_3)_2, 10 \text{ mM}, 20 \text{ mL})$  is mixed with an aqueous solution of hexamine  $(C_6H_{12}N_4, 10 \text{ mM}, 20 \text{ mL})$  under bath sonication for 10 minutes. After that, turn the seed substrate that is already prepared for growing the nanorods upside down and put the sample on the step that prepares from the cutting glass slide to be like the ladder, which the solution can pass through, pour the prepared zinc nitrate and hexamine solution over the substrate, and heated for one hour on low power mode (400W) in the microwave (see the Figure 3.1 (b)). The procedure is repeated 5 times, after that the sample is rinsed with DI water and annealed in a furnace at 350 °C for 1 to form the ZnO nanorod layer on the glass substrate (see the Figure 3.1 (c)).

Figure 3.1

Synthesize of ZnO Nanorods



*Note.* (a) The ZnO first layer is made by spraying the ZnO seed on the glass surface. (b) To form the rods on the Seed layer, turn the ZnO seed substrate upside down and heat it in the microwave. (c) The sample is then annealed in the furnace to produce ZnO nanorods.

## 3.2.2 Synthesis of Gold Nanoparticles on ZnO by Utilizing Photoreduction Method

Gold nanoparticles (Au NPs) on the ZnO nanorods are produced following a straightforward photoreduction method, that requires only a UV source at a wavelength of 373 nm, to induce the formation of Au NPs (see Figure 3.2) (Chen et al., 2021; Courrol et al., 2007).

## Figure 3.2

## Fabrication of Biosensor



*Note.* Diagrams showing the proposed sensor's production processes of the SPR aptamer-based biosensor.

A solution of tetrachloroauric acid (HAuCl<sub>4</sub>) at a concentration of 0.2 mM is prepared in a solvent mixture made of equal volumes of water and ethanol. The ZnO nanorods are immersed in 10 mL of such solution. The Au (III) cations are subsequently reduced to Au (0) on the ZnO nanorods by irradiating at 373 nm for 10 minutes with UV light (6 W) (Eustis et al., 2005), followed by rinsing with DI water. The resulting Au size has a diameter of 40 nm. The procedure is repeated 3 times to increase the number and diameter of the Au NPs.

In the final step, the sample is annealed in the furnace for one hour at 450 °C, and let to cool naturally afterward (see Figure 3.3).

## Figure 3.3

### Results of Gold Deposition



*Note.* ZnO before and after deposit gold nano particle by irradiated with UV light for 10 minutes.

#### 3.2.3 Surface Functionalization of Aptamer on the Glass Substrate

The Au/ZnO SPR surface must be functionalized with an aptamer for the specific detection of the analyte, in this case, glycated albumin. The aptamer employed in this study is provided with a thiol termination, which is the anchoring point for the Au/ZnO surface (Sasar et al., 2020). It is usually protected as a disulfide bridge with a short sacrificial molecule (C3) at the 3' end. The sequence is as follows:

## 

The deposition of thiol-modified aptamer on the gold ZnO nanoparticle is done by first deprotecting the thiol group with TCEP (tris (2-carboxyethyl) phosphine), and then by immersing the sample in the aptamer solution at different concentrations.

a. Preparation of aptamer stock solution. According to the manufacturer, the aptamer must be diluted with 327  $\mu$ l of TE buffer pH 8.0 which is composed of Tris and EDTA buffer (Tris serves as a nucleic acid solution, while the EDTA buffer prevents DNA damage), to obtain a stock solution with a concentration of 100  $\mu$ M; therefore, several aliquots were prepared and frozen, ready to be thawed and used for the surface functionalization.

*b. Thiol group deprotection.* A 40 mM solution of TCEP is prepared by dissolving 0.08 g of TCEP with TE buffer 7 ml. TCEP solution is the end product, but it is an acidic solution of around 2.4 pH and cannot be used with aptamers (see Figure 3.4). Therefore, add NaOH 5.9 ml to increase the pH of the solution up to 7 pH. Then, DI water 1.1 ml was added to increase the volume of the solution up to 14 ml. as a result, the final product is TCEP 20 mM concentration in 14 ml of volume.

The obtained solution is stored at -20 °C. For deprotection, a 1:1: a mixture of TCEP and aptamer is incubated at room temperature for 1 hour, then diluted with TE buffer to the desired concentration. The Au/ZnO nanorods surface is immersed to allow for the binding, with different incubation times of 30, 60, and 90 minutes. The optimization is monitored by observing the peak shift of the aptamer *vs.* the incubation time, choosing by monitoring the absorbance peak that has reached the saturation time, or when the absorbance peak is slightly changing to no change at all.

## Figure 3.4

Deprotecting the Thiol Group with TCEP



*Note.* TECP is added to the aptamer solution to break down disulfide bonds, and NaOH is added to adjust the pH.

## 3.3 Glycation of Human Serum Albumin with Fructose.

Albumin is transformed into glycated albumin, which is present in the form of proteins, through glycation, a non-enzymatic natural process in which a reducing sugar is bonded to a free amino group (Khoirunnisa et al., 2019). This outcome is also known as the Maillard reaction (Khoirunnisa et al., 2019). The typical glycation method involves the use of reducing sugars glucose and fructose (Sattarahmady et al., 2007), which form a covalent bonding with the protein (Kisugi et al., 2007). Glycation of albumin can be performed on both human serum albumin (HSA) and bovine serum albumin (BSA) because their structures are very similar (Arasteh et al., 2014). In this research, the preparation of glycated albumin has been performed on HSA. The procedure involves incubation with fructose for 7 days under magnetic stirring at 150 RPM (see Figure 3.5) (Sattarahmady et al., 2007). Human serum albumin is dissolved in 0.1 M phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) pH 7.4 at a concentration of 66 mg/ml, in presence of fructose at a concentration of 2 mg/ml. UV-Vis spectrophotometry and fluorescence spectroscopy are used to analyze the glycated albumin.

## Figure 3.5

## Incubation of Glycated Albumin



Note. Incubation of glycated albumin for 7 days by using albumin and fructose.

#### 3.4 Characterization Methods of the LSPR Biosensor

Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) (JEOL model JSM-7800F (Prime)) is used to examine the morphology of ZnO nanorods and ZnO gold nanoparticle surfaces, at a resolution as low as 15 nanometers (Geetha et al., 2016).

UV-Vis Spectrophotometry (USB4000-UV-VIS) which measures from 200-850 nm is used to determine the light absorption of the Au/ZnO substrate in presence of aptamer and glycated albumin. HSA is analyzed before and after glycation. Furthermore, to determine specific vs. non-specific binding of the glycated albumin, a peak shift comparison is performed between the surfaces with and without the aptamer.

Glycated albumin is also analyzed using fluorescence spectroscopy (FluoroMax-3), as glycation affects ligand binding and causes structural changes in the albumin molecule. As a result, fluorescence spectroscopy can detect the glycation process, with high sensitivity, rapidity, and simplicity, making it an excellent tool for this investigation (Szkudlarek et al., 2017).

#### 3.5 Detection of Glycated Albumin Testing the Absorbance Peak Shift

This experiment aims to examine the specificity of the aptamer binding with the glycated albumin, by measuring the UV-Vis spectrum of the system and comparing the sample before functionalization of the aptamer with the sample after adding glycated albumin. To measure this difference, the peak of gold, usually in the range of 520 nm to 550 nm, is monitored for any intensity or peak shift after adding glycated albumin.

To observe non-specific binding, the same experiment is repeated in absence of the aptamer, letting the glycated albumin interact directly with the whole Au-ZnO surface. By obtaining the difference between the aptamer-functionalized surface and the bare surface, it is possible to estimate the number of glycated albumins that bind with Au-ZnO nanorods.

#### 3.6 Sensitivity of the Detection Glycated Albumin (Limit of detection, LOD)

To test the lowest concentration of an analyte on the sample surface that can be reliably identified, a.k.a. the limit of detection (LOD), several concentrations of glycated albumin are used to observe the peak shift: 2 mg/ml, 1 mg/ml, 0.5 mg/ml, 0.25 mg/ml, and 0.125 mg/ml, prepared in 0.1 M phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) pH 7.4. An aptamer concentration of 4  $\mu$ M is used for the preparation of the substrates, which are immersed for 2 hours in a test tube containing 500  $\mu$ l of glycated albumin. After that, the sample is removed and rinsed with TE buffer, dried, and measured at the UV-Vis spectrophotometer.

# CHAPTER 4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

## 4.1 Synthesis of ZnO Nanorods

### 4.1.1 Characterization by UV Visible Spectroscopy

To form ZnO nanostructures by hydrothermal method, the starting procedure requires to initially deposit a thin ZnO seed layer on the substrate, which acts as a base for the ZnO nanorods. This ZnO seed film is characterized via UV visible spectroscopy, and the presence of a band around 350 nm is typical of the presence of the ZnO seed layer (Liu et al., 2006). The optical absorbance of ZnO seed grown on glass substrates as investigated as a function of wavelength in the 200-700 nm range is presented in Figure 4.1 (a). The result shows a shoulder at about 350 nm, confirming the presence of ZnO on the glass substrate, the latter having a broad absorption centered at about 280 nm.

## Figure 4.1

UV Visible of Spectroscopy of ZnO



*Note.* (a) Characterization of UV visible spectroscopy of ZnO seed layer compared with a glass slide. (b) Characterization of UV visible spectroscopy of ZnO nanorods and ZnO seed.

The subsequent growth of the ZnO nanorods from the hydrothermal growth method fabricated by heating the ZnO seed with the Zn nitrate and Hexamine for 1 hour in 5 cycles can also be confirmed by using UV visible spectroscopy. The peak related to ZnO, as shown in Figure 4.1 (b), is slightly red-shifted from 350 to ca. 360 nm, and it is more intense than the previous ZnO seed layer because the structure of ZnO was changed from thin film to the nanorods (Ridhuan et al., 2012).

#### 4.1.2 Evaluate the Morphology of the Grown ZnO Nanorods Structure's Surface

Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) was used to examine the structure of the ZnO nanorods and determine their shape and size. Two concentrations of both Zn nitrate and hexamine at 5 mM and 10 mM were evaluated. After thermal treatment at 450 °C in the furnace, the surface of ZnO with the 5 mM treatment (Figure 4.2 (b)) is composed of hexagonally shaped ZnO nanorods with a diameter of  $43 \pm 13$  nm, whereas increasing the concentration to 10 mM the diameter increases to ca.  $52 \pm 8$  nm (Figure 4.2 (a)). In both cases, the average length of the ZnO nanorods is about 600 nm (Figure 4.2 (c)). The nanostructured materials examinations reveal the linear trend between the concentration of the precursors and the resulting diameter of the nanorods. At lower concentrations, the diameter of ZnO is smaller than at higher concentrations, while increasing the concentration of the seed layer of ZnO during the formation stage induces the length of ZnO nanorods to increase (Ridhuan et al., 2012).

### Figure 4.2

#### Morphologies of ZnO Nanorods



*Note.* The morphologies of the produced nanorods are shown in SEM images. (a) ZnO nanorods at 5 mM concentration (b) ZnO nanorods at 10 mM concentration. (c) The thickness of the ZnO nanorods.

## 4.2 Depositions of Gold Nanoparticles

## 4.2.1 Ultraviolet-visible Spectroscopy (UV-Vis)

The deposition of gold nanoparticles on the ZnO nanorods can be monitored by UV visible spectroscopy, obtaining a plasmon resonance absorption range for gold particles between 510 and 550 nm depending on the size and concentration of ZnO. Figure 4.3 shows the absorbance of gold nanoparticles at various deposition cycles (up to 6), before and after deposition.

The significant peak at ca. 350 nm represents ZnO nanorods, while the increasing peak at around 520 nm indicates the formation of gold nanoparticles that aggregate on the ZnO nanorods (Li et al., 2019). The increasing intensity depends on the deposition cycle of gold.

#### Figure 4.3





*Note.* Various cycles of gold deposition compared with ZnO nanorods without gold deposition were tested by measuring the absorption of gold using UV visible spectroscopy.

## 4.2.2 Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)

The SEM morphological characterization of the ZnO/Au systems obtained after 3 and 6 cycles is reported in Figure 4.4 (a) and 4.4 (b), respectively, as a side view. The reaction conditions used for both gold deposition processes are: 10 mM ZnO nanorod concentration and 10-minute UV exposure for each cycle. ZnO nanorods still retain a length of about 600 nm, while gold particles are represented by spherical shapes attached on top, and occasionally on the side of the nanorods. The size of the gold particles that accumulate on the ZnO nanorods changes over the period of gold deposition cycles, with a diameter variable between 40 nm (3 cycles) and 60 nm (6 cycles).

### Figure 4.4

Morphologies of Gold on ZnO Nanorods



*Note.* Scanning electron microscopes of the deposition of gold on ZnO nanorods. (a) The threecycle gold depositing method. (b) Gold is deposited with six cycles of deposition.

#### 4.2.3 Water Contact Angle

The presence of hydroxyl groups on the surface of zinc oxide makes it spontaneously hydrophilic, with water contact angle (WCA) values between 15 and 30 degrees (Figure 4.5). When the Au is deposited the WCA increases with the increase of the number of deposition cycles. In details, the WCA increases as follows:  $14.56^{\circ} \pm 3.00^{\circ}$  (control),

 $18.99^{\circ} \pm 2.51^{\circ}$  (cycle 1),  $20.35^{\circ} \pm 6.29^{\circ}$  (cycle 2),  $25.73^{\circ} \pm 1.288^{\circ}$  (cycle 3),  $26.05^{\circ} \pm 3.00^{\circ}$  (cycle 4),  $26.64^{\circ} \pm 4.4^{\circ}$  (cycle 5), and  $27.75^{\circ} \pm 5.24^{\circ}$  (cycle 6). Therefore, upon Au deposition, the more the cycles the lower the surface hydrophilicity.

## Figure 4.5

Surface's Water Contact Angle of Au-ZnO Nanorods



*Note.* The several cycles of gold deposition affect the surface's water contact angle which are (a) deposition of gold cycle 0, (b) deposition of gold cycle 1, (c) deposition of gold cycle 2, (d) deposition of gold cycle 3, (e) deposition of gold cycle 4, (f) deposition of gold cycle 5, (g) deposition of gold cycle 6.

## 4.3 Functionalization of the Gold ZnO Nanorods with the Aptamer Solution

The functionalization of Au/ZnO with the aptamer specific for glycated albumin can be assessed via UV spectrophotometry, by monitoring the peak position of the Au

absorption (centered at 519 nm in Figure 4.6). Upon functionalization with the aptamer (200 uL, concentration: 4  $\mu$ M), a Localized Surface Plasmon Resonance (LSPR) peak shift to 525 nm occurs because the aptamer binds to the gold, causing a change in the Au NP diameter, therefore inducing a change in the local refractive index, which is reflected in this red-shift (Nie et al., 2014), therefore demonstrating that the aptamer was successfully attached to the surface of the gold ZnO nanorods.

#### Figure 4.6





*Note.* The LSPR peak shifts at the spectrum of gold wavelength during functionalization with the aptamer.

#### 4.3.1 Aptamer Concentration

Aptamer concentrations 1  $\mu$ M and 4  $\mu$ M were chosen to optimize its functionalization on the Au nanoparticles. The reaction was conducted for 90 minutes at room temperature. The results reported in Figure 4.7 shows that at the lowest concentration (1  $\mu$ M), the LSPR redshift is ca. 4 nm, whereas the highest concentration (4  $\mu$ M) shows a slightly larger redshift of about 5.5 nm. Considering that the higher redshift is due to more coating on the Au surface, the optimum concentration for the surface functionalization of the aptamer was set to  $4 \mu M$ .

#### Figure 4.7

Concentration of Aptamer



*Note.* The peak shift of the 1  $\mu$ M and 4  $\mu$ M concentrations of aptamer was measured by UV visible spectroscopy.

## 4.3.2 Incubation time of the Au/ZnO Nanorods with the Aptamer Solution.

A kinetic experiment was conducted at the aptamer concentration of 4  $\mu$ M for 30, 60, and 90 minutes, to ascertain which concentration is the most appropriate for the surface functionalization of the Au/ZnO nanorods. The graph reported in Figure 4.8 indicates that the peak shift of absorbance after 30 minutes of incubation time is quite negligible, only ca. 0.6 nm, practically comparable to the instrumental error. After 60 minutes, a peak shift of around 1.8 nm can be identified, which increases to ca 1.9 nm at 90 minutes. Even though the variations in the LSPR peak shift are numerically limited, a trend in the incubation time can be observed. Although the increase at 90 minutes is small over the 60 minutes mark, most probably due to the surface being almost

completely saturated, this additional time can provide a further presence of aptamer and therefore increase the signal in the detection of glycated albumin. To get the highest coverage, the incubation time of the gold ZnO nanorods on the aptamer 4  $\mu$ M concentration has been set at 90 minutes.

## Figure 4.8

Incubation Time of Aptamer



*Note.* Incubation time trend the Au/ZnO nanorods. The trend line is only for visual enhancement of the data points.

## Figure 4.9

Maillard Reaction



*Note.* Maillard reaction produces a formation of advanced-glycation end-products (AGE). (Shen et al., 2020).

The complicated mechanism known as the Maillard reaction results in the formation of glycated albumin, as shown in Figure 4.9. In the initial stage of glycation, the nonenzymatic interaction between a reducing sugar (e.g., glucose, fructose, etc.) and the free amino groups of proteins produces the Amadori product, a glycated protein (Yoseph & Demo, 2015). The following step leads to the creation of advanced glycation end-products (AGEs) (Ahmadzadeh, 2014). The presence of these AGEs, which comprises tryptophan residue, can be detected using a fluorescence spectrophotometer (Sattarahmady et al., 2007). Therefore, the glycation of albumin is here monitored by using fluorescence spectrophotometry, using a slit width of 5 nm and a wavelengths  $\lambda_{exc} = 295$  nm, the emission spectrum was recorded, using pure (non-glycated) albumin at day 0 incubation as the reference.

Figure 4.10 (a) reports the emission spectra of the albumin and the glycated albumin obtained at 7 days of reaction. The intensity of the emission in the first case is centered

at around 350 nm, whereas the peak is shifted to about 375 nm after glycation. This phenomenon occurred due to the structural rearrangement surrounding tryptophan residue in the glycated albumin when compared to the residues in the native albumin (Szkudlarek et al., 2017).

The incubation of albumin was also monitored by using UV visible spectroscopy in the 200-800 nm wavelength lengths on days 2, 3, and 7. Clear changes occur during stirring at room temperature with fructose, as evidenced in Figure 4.10 (b). Already from day 2, the glycation process induces structural changes reflected by the increased intensity at 280 nm, which can be related to the conformational change around aromatic amino acids, and the appearance of multiple overlapping broad bands, especially in the 500-650 nm range, potentially due to the reaction of fructose with amino residual groups (Szkudlarek et al., 2017).

As a combined result from both UV and fluorescence analysis, albumin is predicted to have been successfully glycated after 7 days of incubation with fructose.

#### Figure 4.10





*Note.* a) Glycated albumin detection by using fluorescence spectrophotometer; b) UV visible spectroscopy.

## 4.3.4 Efficiency of the Aptamer Binding Towards Glycated Albumin

The Au/ZnO nanorods have been examined with and without the aptamer to determine both specific and non-specific binding of glycated albumin, and thus the sensor's efficiency. This is especially relevant in the case of albumin, which has a great affinity toward many hydrophilic substrates (Muslimov et al., 2021). The interaction between gold ZnO nanorods (in the absence or presence of the aptamer) and the glycated albumin is assessed by measuring the absorbance before and after the addition of 200  $\mu$ l of albumin solution, in PBS buffer at a concentration of 2 mg/ml, on the gold ZnO nanorods surface (Figure 4.11), for the non-functionalized sample, a limited redshift from ca. 520 to 528 nm (8 nm of peak shift), whereas the aptamer-functionalized shows a wider redshift to 547 nm (27 nm of peak shift). The results indicate that the nonspecific binding is quite limited as it does not produce appreciable redshift on the gold nanoparticles, whereas the three-fold increase in the peak-shift observed for the sample with aptamer functionalization evidence a significant enhancement of the binding efficiency of glycated albumin.

#### Figure 4.11

Peak Shift of UV Visible Spectroscopy



Note. The peak shift of UV visible spectroscopy with aptamer and without aptamer.

#### 4.4 Sensitivity and Selectivity Test of the Aptamer with Glycated Albumin.

#### 4.4.1 Sensitivity Test

To have an appreciation of the sensitivity of the aptamer binding to various concentrations of glycated albumin, samples were exposed to a range of concentrations of glycated albumin between 0 and 4 mg/mL, measuring the absorbance peak shift intensity of gold nanoparticles in the range of 200-900 nm via UV visible spectrophotometry. According to Figure 4.12, the peak shift increases with an almost exponential trend along the series. It is noteworthy that peak shift data below the 0.125 mg/ml concentration of glycated albumin might not be sufficiently reliable due to its very low concentration measured via UV visible spectroscopy. Beyond 2 mg/mL, the limited peak shift is justifiable by saturation of the aptamer already at this concentration. The aptamer may not be able to attach to an excess of glycated albumin, resulting in a negligible change in size or refractive index and therefore in the absorbance peak shift. As a result, there was an exponential fitting in the trend with an error bar depicting the standard deviations of measurements gathered from three experiments. Equation  $y = 4.2507 \ln(x) + 22.19$ ,  $R^2 = 0.9676$  was calculated using the relation of the concentration of glycated albumin and the LSPR peak shift. The limit of detection of aptamer functionalization on the gold ZnO nanorods interacting with glycated albumin was estimated to have the lowest concentration of a measurement that can effectively measure is 1.408 mg/ml.

## Figure 4.12

Sensitivity of the Aptamer



*Note*. Limits of detection of the aptamer functionalized on gold ZnO nanorods interact with glycated albumin in various concentrations.

## 4.4.2 Selectivity Testing

To assess the selectivity of the aptamer sensor towards the analyte, a binding experiment in presence of either standard serum albumin or glycated albumin was performed, maintaining the same conditions in both cases, that is 2 mg/ml of protein, and samples were prepared using an aptamer concentration of 4  $\mu$ M. The comparison of the LSPR peak shifts I reported in Figure 4.13. While the normal albumin shows a peak shift of about 9 nm, comparable to a similar peak shift previously obtained in absence of aptamer (see Figure 4.13), only the correct analyte, represented by the glycated albumin, shows a much higher peak shift of about 27 nm, this result demonstrates the significant difference between using very similar substrates, that are pure serum albumin vs. glycated albumin, as analytes for aptamer binding. Since this aptamer has been optimized to specifically bind glycated albumin rather than pure albumin (Sasar et al., 2020), this characteristic can be used to confirm the selectivity of

the aptamer. This behavior can be useful once applied to the analysis of glycated albumin even in presence of normal serum albumin.

## Figure 4.13

Selectivity of the Aptamer



*Note.* The results of testing the aptamer specific binding with both pure albumin and glycated albumin.

# CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSION

## 5.1 Conclusion

In summary, the main goal of this research is to design and fabricate a simple biosensor that surfaces formed of gold nanoparticles which were synthesized on ZnO using the photoreduction process to improve signal and recognize a signal from a metallic surface. Hydrothermal growth processes are being used to produce ZnO nanorods. ZnO was coated on the glass slide to be used as a base for the sensor. The Characterization of SEM was performed to determine the morphology of hexagonal ZnO nanorods at 5 mM concentration which has a diameter of  $43 \pm 13$  nm, whereas the diameter of 10 mM is  $52 \pm 8$  nm.

Such a biomarker Glycated albumin concentration was successfully quantified using DNA aptamers as specific recognition elements for glycated albumin. The aptamers sequence 5' -GGTGGCTGGAAGGGGGGCGCGAACGTTTTTTTTT-3' – S-S-C3 was used to bind with the glycated albumin to enhance the output signal in terms of SPR peak shift. The ability of aptamer to bind to glycated albumin was tested at 2 concentrations, 1  $\mu$ M and 4  $\mu$ M. The result showed that 4  $\mu$ M gives a higher peak shift compared to 1  $\mu$ M concentration. The incubation time of aptamers binding with gold nanoparticles was tested at 30, 60, and 90 minutes, and the result showed that the absorbance peak reach the saturation time in 90 minutes at room temperature. When these conditions are met, the aptamer has a suitable condition to bind with glycated albumin.

To prepare the glycated albumin, the human serum albumin was used to incubate with fructose for seven days at room temperature in the magnetic stirring. The fluorescent spectroscopy and UV visible spectroscopy were used to confirm the glycated albumin by observing the change of absorbance with UV vis and change in the intensity of the emission with a fluorescence spectrophotometer.

To determine the success of the detection, UV Visible Spectroscopy was used to analyze the peak shift of the aptamers when binding to glycated albumin. The result demonstrates that peak shift is related to glycated albumin concentration which higher concentration occurred higher peak shift. To evaluate the detection performance of the system, Gold ZnO with aptamers and without aptamers were performed to analyze the nonspecific binding of glycated albumin with gold ZnO substrate which the result showed the enhancement of the signal compared to the substrate without aptamer.

The signal output-sensitive response in only glycated albumin and other protein are not affected by the detection. Moreover, the experiment was performed to test the sensitivity of the detection of glycated albumin the lowest concentration that can be detected is 1.408 mg/ml according to the LOD testing.

### 5.2 Recommendation and Future Implications

Various research has been proving that biosensors can be more deeply explored in numerous ways to assist clinical fields in processing an early detection of lifethreatening diseases. The application of numerous scientific fields of the detection method improves the detection's accuracy and precision, allowing for immediate treatment and the potential to save more lives. According to this research glycated albumin has been implemented as a biomarker, and it has shown a great result that can be applied to real-world infectious diseases. Therefore, in the future, it could be assumable that if this research has been taken further in experimenting with antigens, it could possibly lead to another open door in clinical and medical research, another step forward in modern diagnosis methods.

## REFERENCES

- Abid, S. A., Ahmed Muneer, A., Al-Kadmy, I. M. S., Sattar, A. A., Beshbishy, A. M., Batiha, G. E. S., & Hetta, H. F. (2021). Biosensors as a future diagnostic approach for COVID-19. In Life Sciences (Vol. 273). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2021.11911
- Acharya, T., Kennedy, R., Daar, A. S., & Singer, P. A. (2004). Biotechnology to improve health in developing countries - A review. In Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz (Vol. 99, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1590/S0074-02762004000400001
- Ahmad, R., Tripathy, N., & Hahn, Y. B. (2014). Highly stable urea sensor based on ZnO nanorods directly grown on Ag/glass electrodes. Sensors and Actuators, B: Chemical, 194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb.2013.12.098
- Ahmadzadeh, A. (2014). Papaverine increases human serum albumin glycation. Journal of Biological Physics, 40(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10867-013-9337-5
- Al Abdullah, K., Awad, S., Zaraket, J., & Salame, C. (2017). Synthesis of ZnO Nanopowders by Using Sol-Gel and Studying Their Structural and Electrical Properties at Different Temperature. Energy Procedia, 119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egypro.2017.07.080
- Alt, K., Carraro, F., Jap, E., Linares-Moreau, M., Ricco, R., Righetto, M., Bogar, M., Amenitsch, H., Hashad, R., Doonan, C. J., Caruso, F., Hagemeyer, C. E., & Falcaro, P. (2021). Self-Assembly of Orientated Antibody-Decorated Metal-Organic Framework Nanocrystals for Active Targeting Applications. Metal-Organic Framework. https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.202106607
- Anik, U. (2017). Electrochemical medical biosensors for POC applications. In Medical Biosensors for Point of Care (POC) Applications. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-100072-4.00012-5
- Arasteh, A., Farahi, S., Habibi-Rezaei, M., & Moosavi-Movahedi, A. A. (2014).
  Glycated albumin: An overview of the In Vitro models of an In Vivo potential disease marker. In Journal of Diabetes and Metabolic Disorders (Vol. 13, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1186/2251-6581-13-49

- Asif, M., Ajmal, M., Ashraf, G., Muhammad, N., Aziz, A., Iftikhar, T., Wang, J., & Liu, H. (2020). The role of biosensors in coronavirus disease-2019 outbreak. In Current Opinion in Electrochemistry (Vol. 23). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coelec.2020.08.011
- Atmar, R. L. (2014). Immunological detection and characterization. In Viral Infections of Humans: Epidemiology and Control. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4899-7448-8\_3
- Aydin, S. (2015). A short history, principles, and types of ELISA, and our laboratory experience with peptide/protein analyses using ELISA. Peptides, 72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2015.04.012
- Balamurugan, S., Obubuafo, A., Soper, S. A., & Spivak, D. A. (2008). Surface immobilization methods for aptamer diagnostic applications. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry, 390(4). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-007-1587-2
- Baldrich, E., Restrepo, A., & O'Sullivan, C. K. (2005). Aptasensor development:
  Elucidation of critical parameters for optimal aptamer performance.
  Analytical Chemistry, 76(23). https://doi.org/10.1021/ac0492580
- Balkhair, A. (2009). The struggle against pandemic influenza a (H1N1) 2009. In \ Sultan Qaboos University Medical Journal (Vol. 9, Issue 3).
- Balkhair, A. A. (2020). Covid-19 pandemic: A new chapter in the history of infectious diseases. In Oman Medical Journal (Vol. 35, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.5001/OMJ.2020.41
- Bartlam, M., Yang, H., & Rao, Z. (2005). Structural insights into SARS coronavirus proteins. In Current Opinion in Structural Biology (Vol. 15, Issue 6). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbi.2005.10.004
- Baruah, S., & Dutta, J. (2009). Hydrothermal growth of ZnO nanostructures. Science and Technology of Advanced Materials, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1088/1468-6996/10/1/013001
- Bhalla, N., Jolly, P., Formisano, N., & Estrela, P. (2016). Introduction to biosensors. Essays in Biochemistry, 60(1). https://doi.org/10.1042/EBC20150001

- Bleve, G., Rizzotti, L., Dellaglio, F., & Torriani, S. (2003). Development of reverse transcription (RT)-PCR and real-time RT-PCR assays for rapid detection and quantification of viable yeasts and molds contaminating yogurts and pasteurized food products. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 69(7). https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.69.7.4116-4122.2003
- Bustin, S. A., Benes, V., Nolan, T., & Pfaffl, M. W. (2005). Quantitative real-time RT-PCR - A perspective. In Journal of Molecular Endocrinology (Vol. 34, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.1677/jme.1.01755
- Cao, Y., Galoppini, E., Reyes, P. I., Duan, Z., & Lu, Y. (2012). Morphology effects on the biofunctionalization of nanostructured ZnO. Langmuir, 28(21). https://doi.org/10.1021/la3006037
- Carter, L. J., Garner, L. V., Smoot, J. W., Li, Y., Zhou, Q., Saveson, C. J., Sasso, J. M., Gregg, A. C., Soares, D. J., Beskid, T. R., Jervey, S. R., & Liu, C. (2020). Assay Techniques and Test Development for COVID-19 Diagnosis. ACS Central Science, 6(5). https://doi.org/10.1021/acscentsci.0c00501
- Cella, L. N., Blackstock, D., Yates, M. A., Mulchandani, A., & Chen, W. (2013). Detection of rna viruses: Current technologies and future perspectives. In Critical Reviews in Eukaryotic Gene Expression (Vol. 23, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1615/CritRevEukaryotGeneExpr.2013006974
- Chauhan, M., & Kumar Singh, V. (2021). Review on recent experimental SPR/LSPR based fiber optic analyte sensors. Optical Fiber Technology, 64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yofte.2021.102580
- Chen, J., Li, Y., Huang, K., Wang, P., He, L., Carter, K. R., & Nugen, S. R. (2015). Nanoimprinted Patterned Pillar Substrates for Surface-Enhanced Raman Scattering Applications. ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces, 7(39). https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.5b07879
- Chen, Y. J., Chang, W. H., Li, C. Y., Chiu, Y. C., Huang, C. C., & Lin, C. H. (2021).
  Direct synthesis of monolayer gold nanoparticles on epoxy based photoresist
  by photoreduction and application to surface-enhanced Raman sensing.
  Materials and Design, 197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matdes.2020.109211

- Chung, J. W., Kim, S. D., Bernhardt, R., & Pyun, J. C. (2005). Application of SPR biosensor for medical diagnostics of human hepatitis B virus (hHBV).
  Sensors and Actuators, B: Chemical, 111–112(SUPPL.).
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb.2005.03.055
- Cinti, S., Malani, A., & Riddell, J. (2008). Infectious Diseases. In Clinical Men's Health: Evidence in Practice. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-141603000-3.10011-5
- Cole, L., & Kramer, P. R. (2016). Bacteria, Virus, Fungi, and Infectious Diseases. In Human Physiology, Biochemistry and Basic Medicine. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-803699-0.00040-2
- Courrol, L. C., de Oliveira Silva, F. R., & Gomes, L. (2007). A simple method to synthesize silver nanoparticles by photo-reduction. Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects, 305(1–3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfa.2007.04.052
- Crivianu-Gaita, V., & Thompson, M. (2016). Aptamers, antibody scFv, and antibody
  Fab' fragments: An overview and comparison of three of the most versatile
  biosensor biorecognition elements. In Biosensors and Bioelectronics (Vol. 85). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2016.04.091
- Cui, F., & Zhou, H. S. (2020). Diagnostic methods and potential portable biosensors for coronavirus disease 2019. Biosensors and Bioelectronics, 165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2020.112349
- Damborský, P., Švitel, J., & Katrlík, J. (2016). Optical biosensors. Essays in Biochemistry, 60(1), 91–100. https://doi.org/10.1042/EBC20150010
- De Crescenzo, G., Boucher, C., Durocher, Y., & Jolicoeur, M. (2008). Kinetic Characterization by Surface Plasmon Resonance-Based Biosensors: Principle and Emerging Trends. Cellular and Molecular Bioengineering, 1(4). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12195-008-0035-5
- De La Rica, R., & Stevens, M. M. (2012). Plasmonic ELISA for the ultrasensitive detection of disease biomarkers with the naked eye. Nature Nanotechnology, 7(12). https://doi.org/10.1038/nnano.2012.186

- Djaileb, A., Charron, B., Jodaylami, M. H., Thibault, V., Coutu, J., Stevenson, K., Forest, S., Live, L. S., Boudreau, D., Pelletier, J. N., & Masson, J. F. (2020). A rapid and quantitative serum test for SARS-CoV-2 antibodies with portable surface plasmon resonance sensing. ChemRxiv. https://doi.org/10.26434/chemrxiv.12118914
- Dostálek, J., Ladd, J., Jiang, S., & Homola, J. (2006). SPR Biosensors for Detection of Biological and Chemical Analytes. https://doi.org/10.1007/5346\_019
- Eddin, F. B. K., & Fen, Y. W. (2020). The principle of nanomaterials based surface plasmon resonance biosensors and its potential for dopamine detection. In Molecules (Vol. 25, Issue 12). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25122769
- Eissa, S., Alshehri, N., Rahman, A. M. A., Dasouki, M., Salah, K. M. A., & Zourob, M. (2018). Electrochemical immunosensors for the detection of survival motor neuron (SMN) protein using different carbon nanomaterials-modified electrodes. Biosensors and Bioelectronics, 101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2017.10.015
- Emery, S. L., Erdman, D. D., Bowen, M. D., Newton, B. R., Winchell, J. M., Meyer, R. F., Tong, S., Cook, B. T., Holloway, B. P., McCaustland, K. A., Rota, P. A., Bankamp, B., Lowe, L. E., Ksiazek, T. G., Bellini, W. J., & Anderson, L. J. (2004). Real-Time Reverse Transcription-Polymerase Chain Reaction Assay for SARS-associated Coronavirus. Emerging Infectious Diseases, 10(2). https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1002.030759
- Eustis, S., Hsu, H. Y., & El-Sayed, M. A. (2005). Gold nanoparticle formation from photochemical reduction of Au 3+ by continuous excitation in colloidal solutions. A proposed molecular mechanism. Journal of Physical Chemistry B, 109(11). https://doi.org/10.1021/jp0441588
- Farzadfard, A., Shayeh, J. S., Habibi-Rezaei, M., & Omidi, M. (2020). Modification of reduced graphene/Au-aptamer to develop an electrochemical based aptasensor for measurement of glycated albumin. Talanta, 211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2020.120722

- Fatoyinbo, H. O., & Hughes, M. P. (2012). Biosensors. Encyclopedia of Nanotechnology, 329–345. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-9751-4 129
- Fei, J., Dou, W., & Zhao, G. (2015). A sandwich electrochemical immunosensor for Salmonella pullorum and Salmonella gallinarum based on a screen-printed carbon electrode modified with an ionic liquid and electrodeposited gold nanoparticles. Microchimica Acta, 182(13–14). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00604-015-1573-x
- Firdous, S., Anwar, S., & Rafya, R. (2018). Development of surface plasmon resonance (SPR) biosensors for use in the diagnostics of malignant and infectious diseases. Laser Physics Letters, 15(6). https://doi.org/10.1088/1612-202X/aab43f
- Fu, S., Qu, G., Guo, S., Ma, L., Zhang, N., Zhang, S., Gao, S., & Shen, Z. (2011). Applications of loop-mediated isothermal DNA amplification. In Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology (Vol. 163, Issue 7). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12010-010-9088-8
- Geetha, M. S., Nagabhushana, H., & Shivananjaiah, H. N. (2016). Green mediated synthesis and characterization of ZnO nanoparticles using Euphorbia Jatropa latex as reducing agent. Journal of Science: Advanced Materials and Devices, 1(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsamd.2016.06.015
- Giri, B., Pandey, S., Shrestha, R., Pokharel, K., Ligler, F. S., & Neupane, B. B.
  (2021). Review of analytical performance of COVID-19 detection methods. In Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry (Vol. 413, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-020-02889-x
- Gosu, R., & Zaheer, S. M. (2021). Introduction to Surface Plasmon Resonance. In Methods for Fragments Screening Using Surface Plasmon Resonance. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-1536-8\_1
- Guan, Y., Zheng, B. J., He, Y. Q., Liu, X. L., Zhuang, Z. X., Cheung, C. L., Luo, S. W., Li, P. H., Zhang, L. J., Guan, Y. J., Butt, K. M., Wong, K. L., Chan, K. W., Lim, W., Shortridge, K. F., Yuen, K. Y., Peiris, J. S. M., & Poon, L. L. M. (2003). Isolation and characterization of viruses related to the SARS coronavirus from animals in Southern China. Science, 302(5643). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1087139

- Guarisco, M., Gandolfi, D., Guider, R., Vanzetti, L., Bartali, R., Ghulinyan, M.,
  Cretich, M., Chiari, M., Bettotti, P., Pavesi, L., Pederzolli, C., & Pasquardini,
  L. (2017). A new aptamer immobilization strategy for protein recognition.
  Sensors and Actuators, B: Chemical, 252.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb.2017.05.133
- Guo, X. (2012). Surface plasmon resonance based biosensor technique: A review. In Journal of Biophotonics (Vol. 5, Issue 7). https://doi.org/10.1002/jbio.201200015
- Han, J., Gao, L., Wang, J., & Wang, J. (2020). Application and development of aptamer in cancer: From clinical diagnosis to cancer therapy. Journal of Cancer, 11(23), 6902–6915. https://doi.org/10.7150/JCA.49532
- Harpaz, D., Koh, B., Marks, R. S., Seet, R. C. S., Abdulhalim, I., & Tok, A. I. Y. (2019). Point-of-care surface plasmon resonance biosensor for stroke biomarkers NT-proBNP and s100 β using a functionalized gold chip with specific antibody. Sensors (Switzerland), 19(11). https://doi.org/10.3390/s19112533
- Heiss, A., Freisinger, B., & Held-Föhn, E. (2017). Enhanced antibacterial activity of silver-ruthenium coated hollow microparticles. Biointerphases, 12(5). https://doi.org/10.1116/1.5003803
- Herne, T. M., & Tarlov, M. J. (1997). Characterization of DNA probes immobilized on gold surfaces. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 119(38). https://doi.org/10.1021/ja9719586
- Holmes, K. K., Bertozzi, S., Bloom, B. R., Jha, P., Gelband, H., DeMaria, L. M., & Horton, S. (2017). Major Infectious Diseases: Key Messages from Disease Control Priorities, Third Edition. In Disease Control Priorities, Third Edition (Volume 6): Major Infectious Diseases. https://doi.org/10.1596/978-1-4648-0524-0\_ch1
- Homola, J. (2008). Surface plasmon resonance sensors for detection of chemical and biological species. In Chemical Reviews (Vol. 108, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1021/cr068107d
- Howard, C. R., & Fletcher, N. F. (2012). Emerging virus diseases: Can we ever expect the unexpected? In Emerging Microbes and Infections (Vol. 1). https://doi.org/10.1038/emi.2012.47

- Ivell, R., Teerds, K., & Hoffman, G. E. (2014). Proper application of antibodies for immunohistochemical detection: Antibody crimes and how to prevent them. In Endocrinology (Vol. 155, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2013-1971
- Jackson, J. B. (1990). The polymerase chain reaction in transfusion medicine. In Transfusion (Vol. 30, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1537-2995.1990.30190117631.x
- Jadhav, S. A. (2011). Self-assembled monolayers (SAMs) of carboxylic acids: An overview. In Central European Journal of Chemistry (Vol. 9, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.2478/s11532-011-0024-8
- Jesionowski, T., Zdarta, J., & Krajewska, B. (2014). Enzyme immobilization by adsorption: A review. In Adsorption (Vol. 20, Issues 5–6). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10450-014-9623-y
- Jha, V., & Prasad, N. (2016). CKD and Infectious Diseases in Asia Pacific: Challenges and Opportunities. American Journal of Kidney Diseases, 68(1). https://doi.org/10.1053/j.ajkd.2016.01.017
- Jung, Y., Jeong, J. Y., & Chung, B. H. (2008). Recent advances in immobilization methods of antibodies on solid supports. Analyst, 133(6), 697–701. https://doi.org/10.1039/B800014J
- Kang, S. W., Deshmukh, P. R., Sohn, Y., & Shin, W. G. (2019). Plasmonic gold sensitization of ZnO nanowires for solar water splitting. Materials Today Communications, 21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mtcomm.2019.100675
- Khoirunnisa, W., Nur, M. I., Widyarti, S., Permana, S., & Sumitro, S. B. (2019).
  Physiologic Glycated-Bovine Serum Albumin Determination using
  Spectrum-UV. Journal of Physics: Conference Series, 1241(1).
  https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1241/1/012003
- Kisugi, R., Kouzuma, T., Yamamoto, T., Akizuki, S., Miyamoto, H., Someya, Y., Yokoyama, J., Abe, I., Hirai, N., & Ohnishi, A. (2007). Structural and glycation site changes of albumin in diabetic patient with very high glycated albumin. Clinica Chimica Acta, 382(1–2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2007.04.001

- Kivirand, K., Kagan, M., & Rinke, T. (2013). Calibrating Biosensors in Flow-Through
  Set-Ups: Studies with Glucose Optrodes. In State of the Art in Biosensors -General Aspects. https://doi.org/10.5772/54127
- Knoll, W., Liley, M., Piscevic, D., Spinke, J., & Tarlov, M. J. (1997). Supramolecular architectures for the functionalization of solid surfaces. Advances in Biophysics, 34. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-227X(97)89642-6
- Kosuda, K. M., Bingham, J. M., Wustholz, K. L., & Duyne, R. P. Van. (2016).
  Chapter 00611 3.09 Nanostructures and Surface-Enhanced Raman
  Spectroscopy. In Reference Module in Materials Science and Materials
  Engineering (Issue August 2015). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-803581-8.00611-1
- Kosuda, K. M., Bingham, J. M., Wustholz, K. L., Van Duyne, R. P., & Groarke, R. J. (2019). Nanostructures and surface-enhanced raman spectroscopy. In Comprehensive Nanoscience and Nanotechnology (Vols. 1–5). https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-803581-8.00611-1
- Kotra, L. P. (2007). Infectious diseases. In xPharm: The Comprehensive PharmacologyReference. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-008055232-3.60849-9
- Kozitsina, A. N., Svalova, T. S., Malysheva, N. N., Okhokhonin, A. V., Vidrevich, M. B., & Brainina, K. Z. (2018). Sensors based on bio and biomimetic receptors in medical diagnostic, environment, and food analysis. In Biosensors (Vol. 8, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.3390/bios8020035
- Kubina, R., & Dziedzic, A. (2020). Molecular and serological tests for COVID-19. A comparative review of SARS-CoV-2 coronavirus laboratory and point-of-care diagnostics. In Diagnostics (Vol. 10, Issue 6). https://doi.org/10.3390/diagnostics10060434
- L \rofas, S., Johnsson, B., Edström, Å., Hansson, A., Lindquist, G., Hillgren, R. M.
   M., & Stigh, L. (1995). Methods for site controlled coupling to carboxymethyldextran surfaces in surface plasmon resonance sensors.
   Biosensors and Bioelectronics, 10(9–10). https://doi.org/10.1016/0956-5663(95)99220-F

- Lalani, A. I., Zhu, S., & Xie, P. (2018). Characterization of thymus-dependent and thymus-independent immunoglobulin isotype responses in mice using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. Journal of Visualized Experiments, 2018(139). https://doi.org/10.3791/57843
- Lecture 2.2 Biosensor Characteristics of a Biosensor. (n.d.).
- Leenaars, M., & Hendriksen, C. F. M. (2005). Critical steps in the production of polyclonal and monoclonal antibodies: Evaluation and recommendations. ILAR Journal, 46(3). https://doi.org/10.1093/ilar.46.3.269
- Li, W., Zhang, C., Sui, J., Kuhn, J. H., Moore, M. J., Luo, S., Wong, S. K., Huang, I. C., Xu, K., Vasilieva, N., Murakami, A., He, Y., Marasco, W. A., Guan, Y., Choe, H., & Farzan, M. (2005). Receptor and viral determinants of SARScoronavirus adaptation to human ACE2. EMBO Journal, 24(8). https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7600640
- Li, X., Chen, X., Yi, Z., Zhou, Z., Tang, Y., & Yi, Y. (2019). Fabriction of ZnO nanorods with strong UV absorption and different hydrophobicity on foamed nickel under different hydrothermal conditions. Micromachines, 10(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/mi10030164
- Liedberg, B., Nylander, C., & Lunström, I. (1983). Surface plasmon resonance for gas detection and biosensing. Sensors and Actuators, 4(C). https://doi.org/10.1016/0250-6874(83)85036-7
- Liu, B., Yang, X., & Kong, L. (2015). Past, present, and future of infectious diseases. In Radiology of Infectious Diseases (Vol. 1). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-9882-2 4
- Liu, H., Ge, J., Ma, E., & Yang, L. (2018). Advanced biomaterials for biosensor and theranostics. In Biomaterials in Translational Medicine: A Biomaterials Approach. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-813477-1.00010-4
- Liu, T. Y., Liao, H. C., Lin, C. C., Hu, S. H., & Chen, S. Y. (2006). Biofunctional ZnO nanorod arrays grown on flexible substrates. Langmuir, 22(13). https://doi.org/10.1021/la052363o
- Löfås, S., & Mcwhirter, A. (2006). The Art of Immobilization for SPR Sensors. July, 117–151. https://doi.org/10.1007/5346 017
- Louten, J. (2016). Detection and Diagnosis of Viral Infections. In Essential Human Virology. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-800947-5.00007-7

- Lowe, C. R. (2008). Overview of Biosensor and Bioarray Technologies. In Handbook of Biosensors and Biochips. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470061565.hbb003
- Mahmoudpour, M., Ezzati Nazhad Dolatabadi, J., Torbati, M., Pirpour Tazehkand, A., Homayouni-Rad, A., & de la Guardia, M. (2019). Nanomaterials and new biorecognition molecules based surface plasmon resonance biosensors for mycotoxin detection. In Biosensors and Bioelectronics (Vol. 143). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2019.111603
- Martinkova, P., Kostelnik, A., Valek, T., & Pohanka, M. (2017). Main streams in the construction of biosensors and their applications. International Journal of Electrochemical Science, 12(8), 7386–7403. https://doi.org/10.20964/2017.08.02
- Mavrikou, S., Moschopoulou, G., Tsekouras, V., & Kintzios, S. (2020). Development of a portable, ultra-rapid and ultra-sensitive cell-based biosensor for the direct detection of the SARS-COV-2 S1 spike protein antigen. In Sensors (Switzerland) (Vol. 20, Issue 11). https://doi.org/10.3390/s20113121
- Mehrotra, P. (2016). Biosensors and their applications A review. In Journal of Oral Biology and Craniofacial Research (Vol. 6, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jobcr.2015.12.002
- Morales, M. A., & Halpern, J. M. (2018). Guide to Selecting a Biorecognition Element for Biosensors. Bioconjugate Chemistry, 29(10). https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.bioconjchem.8b00592
- Mullett, W. M., Lai, E. P. C., & Yeung, J. M. (2000). Surface plasmon resonancebased immunoassays. Methods, 22(1). https://doi.org/10.1006/meth.2000.1039
- Muslimov, A. E., Gadzhiev, M. K., & Kanevsky, V. M. (2021). New approaches to increasing the superhydrophobicity of coatings based on ZnO and TiO2. Coatings, 11(11). https://doi.org/10.3390/coatings11111369
- Mustafa, D. E., Yang, T., Xuan, Z., Chen, S., Tu, H., & Zhang, A. (2010). Surface Plasmon Coupling Effect of Gold Nanoparticles with Different Shape and Size on Conventional Surface Plasmon Resonance Signal. Plasmonics, 5(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11468-010-9141-z

- Nagatoishi, S., Tanaka, Y., & Tsumoto, K. (2007). Circular dichroism spectra demonstrate formation of the thrombin-binding DNA aptamer G-quadruplex under stabilizing-cation-deficient conditions. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 352(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.11.088
- Nguyen, H. H., Park, J., Kang, S., & Kim, M. (2015). Surface plasmon resonance: A versatile technique for biosensor applications. In Sensors (Switzerland) (Vol. 15, Issue 5). https://doi.org/10.3390/s150510481
- Nie, L., Liu, F., Ma, P., & Xiao, X. (2014). Applications of gold nanoparticles in optical biosensors. In Journal of Biomedical Nanotechnology (Vol. 10, Issue 10). https://doi.org/10.1166/jbn.2014.1987
- Niemeyer, C. M. (2002). The developments of semisynthetic DNA-protein conjugates. In Trends in Biotechnology (Vol. 20, Issue 9). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-7799(02)02022-X
- Odeh, F., Nsairat, H., Alshaer, W., Ismail, M. A., Esawi, E., Qaqish, B., Bawab, A. Al, & Ismail, S. I. (2020). Aptamers chemistry: Chemical modifications and conjugation strategies. In Molecules (Vol. 25, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25010003
- Ozer, T., & Henry, C. S. (2021). Paper-based analytical devices for virus detection: Recent strategies for current and future pandemics. Trends in Analytical Chemistry, 144, 116424. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TRAC.2021.116424
- Paul, K. K., & Giri, P. K. (2018). Plasmonic metal and semiconductor nanoparticle decorated TiO2-based photocatalysts for solar light driven photocatalysis. In Encyclopedia of Interfacial Chemistry: Surface Science and Electrochemistry. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-409547-2.13176-2
- Perumal, V., & Hashim, U. (2014). Advances in biosensors: Principle, architecture and applications. In Journal of Applied Biomedicine (Vol. 12, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jab.2013.02.001
- Petryayeva, E., & Krull, U. J. (2011). Localized surface plasmon resonance: Nanostructures, bioassays and biosensing-A review. In Analytica Chimica Acta (Vol. 706, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2011.08.020

- Piliarik, M., & Homola, J. (2009). Surface plasmon resonance (SPR) sensors: approaching their limits? Optics Express, 17(19). https://doi.org/10.1364/oe.17.016505
- Piliarik, M., Vaisocherová, H., & Homola, J. (2009). Surface plasmon resonance biosensing. In Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, N.J.) (Vol. 503). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-60327-567-5\_5
- Plan to Work with Aptamers and SELEX? | IDT. (n.d.). Retrieved December 3, 2021, from https://sg.idtdna.com/pages/education/decoded/article/planning-towork-with-aptamers
- Potyrailo, R. A., Conrad, R. C., Ellington, A. D., & Hieftje, G. M. (1998). Adapting Selected Nucleic Acid Ligands (Aptamers) to Biosensors. Analytical Chemistry, 70(16). https://doi.org/10.1021/ac9802325
- Qing, E., & Gallagher, T. (2020). SARS Coronavirus Redux. In Trends in Immunology (Vol. 41, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2020.02.007
- Raghav, A., Ahmad, J., & Alam, K. (2017). Nonenzymatic glycosylation of human serum albumin and its effect on antibodies profile in patients with diabetes mellitus. PLoS ONE, 12(5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0176970
- Rajendra, B. V., Bhat, V., & Kekuda, D. (2014). Optical properties of zinc oxide (ZnO) thin films prepared by spray pyrolysis method. Advanced Materials Research, 895. https://doi.org/10.4028/www.scientific.net/AMR.895.226
- Reddy, V., Ramulu, T. S., Sinha, B., Lim, J., Hoque, R., Lee, J. H., & Kim, C. G.
  (2012). Electrochemical detection of single nucleotide polymorphism in short
  DNA sequences related to cattle Fatty acid binding protein 4 gene.
  International Journal of Electrochemical Science, 7(11).
- Reta, D. H., Tessema, T. S., Ashenef, A. S., Desta, A. F., Labisso, W. L., Gizaw, S. T., Abay, S. M., Melka, D. S., & Reta, F. A. (2020). Molecular and Immunological Diagnostic Techniques of Medical Viruses. In International Journal of Microbiology (Vol. 2020). https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/8832728
- Rezabakhsh, A., Rahbarghazi, R., & Fathi, F. (2020). Surface plasmon resonance for detection of Alzheimer's biomarkers; an effective step in early and accurate diagnosis. In Biosensors and Bioelectronics (Vol. 167). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2020.112511

- Ridhuan, N. S., Abdul Razak, K., Lockman, Z., & Abdul Aziz, A. (2012). Structural and Morphology of ZnO Nanorods Synthesized Using ZnO Seeded Growth Hydrothermal Method and Its Properties as UV Sensing. PLoS ONE, 7(11). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0050405
- Samson, R., Navale, G. R., & Dharne, M. S. (2020). Biosensors: frontiers in rapid detection of COVID-19. In 3 Biotech (Vol. 10, Issue 9). https://doi.org/10.1007/s13205-020-02369-0
- Sang, C. H., Chou, S. J., Pan, F. M., & Sheu, J. T. (2016). Fluorescence enhancement and multiple protein detection in ZnO nanostructure microfluidic devices. Biosensors and Bioelectronics, 75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2015.08.050
- Sanjay, S. T., Fu, G., Dou, M., Xu, F., Liu, R., Qi, H., & Li, X. (2015). Biomarker detection for disease diagnosis using cost-effective microfluidic platforms. In Analyst (Vol. 140, Issue 21). https://doi.org/10.1039/c5an00780a
- Sasar, M., Farzadfard, A., Abdi, Y., & Habibi-Rezaei, M. (2020). Detection of Glycated Albumin Using a Novel Field Effect Aptasensor. IEEE Sensors Journal, 20(18). https://doi.org/10.1109/JSEN.2020.2971581
- Sattarahmady, N., Moosavi-Movahedi, A. A., Ahmad, F., Hakimelahi, G. H., Habibi-Rezaei, M., Saboury, A. A., & Sheibani, N. (2007). Formation of the molten globule-like state during prolonged glycation of human serum albumin. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - General Subjects, 1770(6). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2007.02.001
- Sawant, S. N. (2017). Development of Biosensors from Biopolymer Composites. In Biopolymer Composites in Electronics. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-809261-3.00013-9
- Schreiber, F. (2000). Structure and growth of self-assembling monolayers. In Progress in Surface Science (Vol. 65, Issues 5–8). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6816(00)00024-1
- Shah, K., & Maghsoudlou, P. (2016). Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA): The basics. British Journal of Hospital Medicine, 77(7). https://doi.org/10.12968/hmed.2016.77.7.C98
- Shanmugam, N. R., Muthukumar, S., & Prasad, S. (2017). A review on ZnO-based electrical biosensors for cardiac biomarker detection. In Future Science OA (Vol. 3, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.4155/fsoa-2017-0006

- Shavanova, K., Bakakina, Y., Burkova, I., Shtepliuk, I., Viter, R., Ubelis, A., Beni,
  V., Starodub, N., Yakimova, R., & Khranovskyy, V. (2016). Application of
  2D non-graphene materials and 2D oxide nanostructures for biosensing
  technology. In Sensors (Switzerland) (Vol. 16, Issue 2).
  https://doi.org/10.3390/s16020223
- Sheikhzadeh, E., Chamsaz, M., Turner, A. P. F., Jager, E. W. H., & Beni, V. (2016).
  Label-free impedimetric biosensor for Salmonella Typhimurium detection
  based on poly [pyrrole-co-3-carboxyl-pyrrole] copolymer supported aptamer.
  Biosensors and Bioelectronics, 80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2016.01.057
- Sheikhzadeh, E., Eissa, S., Ismail, A., & Zourob, M. (2020). Diagnostic techniques for COVID-19 and new developments. In Talanta (Vol. 220). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2020.121392
- Shen, C. Y., Lu, C. H., Wu, C. H., Li, K. J., Kuo, Y. M., Hsieh, S. C., & Yu, C. L. (2020). The development of maillard reaction, and advanced glycation end product (Age)-receptor for age (rage) signaling inhibitors as novel therapeutic strategies for patients with age-related diseases. In Molecules (Vol. 25, Issue 23). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25235591
- Shrivastav, A. M., Cvelbar, U., & Abdulhalim, I. (2021). A comprehensive review on plasmonic-based biosensors used in viral diagnostics. In Communications Biology (Vol. 4, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-020-01615-8
- Sianghio, G. S., Dimaculangan, R. K. A., & Albano, D. R. B. (2020). Quartz Crystal Microbalance Aptasensor for the Molecular Detection of Dengue Virus. ECS Meeting Abstracts, MA2020-01(27). https://doi.org/10.1149/ma2020-01271887mtgabs
- Sin, M. L., Mach, K. E., Wong, P. K., & Liao, J. C. (2014). Advances and challenges in biosensor-based diagnosis of infectious diseases. In Expert Review of Molecular Diagnostics (Vol. 14, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1586/14737159.2014.888313
- Singh, P. (2016). SPR Biosensors: Historical Perspectives and Current Challenges. In Sensors and Actuators, B: Chemical (Vol. 229). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb.2016.01.118
- Souf, S. (2016). Recent advances in diagnostic testing for viral infections. Bioscience Horizons, 9. https://doi.org/10.1093/biohorizons/hzw010

- Spiegelberg, H. L. (1989). Biological role of different antibody classes. International Archives of Allergy and Applied Immunology, 90(SUPPL. 1). https://doi.org/10.1159/000235071
- Srivastava, K. R., Awasthi, S., Mishra, P. K., & Srivastava, P. K. (2020). Biosensors/molecular tools for detection of waterborne pathogens. In Waterborne Pathogens. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-818783-8.00013-x
- Storch, G. A. (2000). Diagnostic virology. Clinical Infectious Diseases, 31(3). https://doi.org/10.1086/314015
- Strimbu, K., & Tavel, J. A. (2010). What are biomarkers? In Current Opinion in HIV and AIDS (Vol. 5, Issue 6). https://doi.org/10.1097/COH.0b013e32833ed177
- Sun, H., Zhu, X., Lu, P. Y., Rosato, R. R., Tan, W., & Zu, Y. (2014). Oligonucleotide aptamers: New tools for targeted cancer therapy. Molecular Therapy -Nucleic Acids, 3. https://doi.org/10.1038/MTNA.2014.32
- Syedmoradi, L., Norton, M. L., & Omidfar, K. (2021). Point-of-care cancer diagnostic devices: From academic research to clinical translation. In Talanta (Vol. 225). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2020.122002
- Szkudlarek, A., Pentak, D., Ploch, A., Pozycka, J., & Maciazek-Jurczyk, M. (2017). Effect of temperature on tolbutamide binding to glycated serum albumin. Molecules, 22(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules22040569
- Tan, S. C., & Yiap, B. C. (2009). DNA, RNA, and protein extraction: The past and the present. In Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology (Vol. 2009). https://doi.org/10.1155/2009/574398
- Telser, A. (2002). Molecular Biology of the Cell, 4th Edition. Shock, 18(3). https://doi.org/10.1097/00024382-200209000-00015
- Tereshchenko, A., Bechelany, M., Viter, R., Khranovskyy, V., Smyntyna, V., Starodub, N., & Yakimova, R. (2016). Optical biosensors based on ZnO nanostructures: Advantages and perspectives. A review. In Sensors and Actuators, B: Chemical (Vol. 229). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb.2016.01.099
- Thiviyanathan, V., & Gorenstein, D. G. (2012). Aptamers and the next generation of diagnostic reagents. In Proteomics - Clinical Applications (Vol. 6, Issues 11– 12). https://doi.org/10.1002/prca.201200042

- Tian, J., Liang, Z., Hu, O., He, Q., Sun, D., & Chen, Z. (2021). An electrochemical dual-aptamer biosensor based on metal-organic frameworks MIL-53 decorated with Au@Pt nanoparticles and enzymes for detection of COVID-19 nucleocapsid protein. Electrochimica Acta, 387. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2021.138553
- Tomizaki, K. Y., Usui, K., & Mihara, H. (2005). Protein-detecting microarrays: Current accomplishments and requirements. In ChemBioChem (Vol. 6, Issue 5). https://doi.org/10.1002/cbic.200400232
- Trent, R. J. (2005). INFECTIOUS DISEASES. Molecular Medicine, 193–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012699057-7/50008-4
- Tsai, W. Y., Chung, T. L., Hsiao, H. H., Chen, J. W., Lin, R. J., Wu, P. C., Sun, G., Wang, C. M., Misawa, H., & Tsai, D. P. (2019). Second Harmonic Light Manipulation with Vertical Split Ring Resonators. Advanced Materials, 31(7). https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.201806479
- Walker, D. H. (2014). Principles of Diagnosis of Infectious Diseases. In Pathobiology of Human Disease: A Dynamic Encyclopedia of Disease Mechanisms. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-386456-7.01713-5
- Wang, H., Chen, S., Li, L., & Jiang, S. (2005). Improved method for the preparation of carboxylic acid and amine terminated self-assembled monolayers of alkanethiolates. Langmuir, 21(7). https://doi.org/10.1021/la046810w
- Warren, A. D., Kwong, G. A., Wood, D. K., Lin, K. Y., & Bhatia, S. N. (2014). Pointof-care diagnostics for noncommunicable diseases using synthetic urinary biomarkers and paper microfluidics. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 111(10). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1314651111
- Wu, F., Zhao, S., Yu, B., Chen, Y. M., Wang, W., Song, Z. G., Hu, Y., Tao, Z. W., Tian, J. H., Pei, Y. Y., Yuan, M. L., Zhang, Y. L., Dai, F. H., Liu, Y., Wang, Q. M., Zheng, J. J., Xu, L., Holmes, E. C., & Zhang, Y. Z. (2020). A new coronavirus associated with human respiratory disease in China. Nature, 579(7798). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2008-3

- Yakoh, A., Pimpitak, U., Rengpipat, S., Hirankarn, N., Chailapakul, O., & Chaiyo, S. (2021). Paper-based electrochemical biosensor for diagnosing COVID-19: Detection of SARS-CoV-2 antibodies and antigen. Biosensors and Bioelectronics, 176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2020.112912
- Yaqoob, A. A., Ahmad, H., Parveen, T., Ahmad, A., Oves, M., Ismail, I. M. I., Qari, H. A., Umar, K., & Mohamad Ibrahim, M. N. (2020). Recent Advances in Metal Decorated Nanomaterials and Their Various Biological Applications: A Review. In Frontiers in Chemistry (Vol. 8). https://doi.org/10.3389/fchem.2020.00341
- Yoseph, C. M., & Demo, Y. T. (2015). Glycated proteins: Clinical utility and analytical approaches. African Journal of Biochemistry Research, 9(2). https://doi.org/10.5897/ajbr2014.0802
- Yu, B., Wen, Y., Yang, X., & Cai, X. (2019). Synthesis of ZnO–Au composite microspheres by one-pot polyol method and its application as a photocatalyst. Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Electronics, 30(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10854-018-0356-7
- Zhang, X., & Yadavalli, V. K. (2011). Surface immobilization of DNA aptamers for biosensing and protein interaction analysis. Biosensors and Bioelectronics, 26(7). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2010.12.012
- Zhu, X., & Gao, T. (2018). Spectrometry. In Nano-inspired Biosensors for Protein Assay with Clinical Applications. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-815053-5.00010-6